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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

(Restated)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenues 734,957 1,143,533 1,426,395 2,800,441 3,820,923

Gross profit 505,409 725,408 956,526 1,983,379 2,703,366

Profit before income tax 338,209 463,653 437,055 1,116,771 1,534,503

Profit for the year 322,196 441,119 485,362 1,063,800 1,568,008

Profit attributable to equity holders

of the Company 322,196 441,119 485,362 1,063,800 1,566,020

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at 31 December

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets

Non-current assets 91,139 309,454 763,495 916,138 2,149,872

Current assets 484,577 2,553,867 2,663,627 3,734,434 4,835,132

Total assets 575,716 2,863,321 3,427,122 4,650,572 6,985,004

Equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to the Company’s

equity holders 471,957 2,652,238 2,928,413 3,717,756 5,183,813

Minority interest in equity – – – – 91,630

Total equity 471,957 2,652,238 2,948,413 3,717,756 5,275,443

Non-current liabilities 988 – 810 64,969 59,944

Current liabilities 102,771 211,083 497,899 867,847 1,649,617

Total liabilities 103,759 211,083 498,709 932,816 1,709,561

Total equity and liabilities 575,716 2,863,321 3,427,122 4,650,572 6,985,004
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Ma Huateng

Chairman

I am pleased to present our annual report for the year ended 31 December 2007 to the shareholders.

OPERATING RESULTS

Total revenues for the year ended 31 December 2007 increased by 36.4% to RMB3,820.9 million, compared with the

same period last year. Revenues from our Internet value-added services increased by 37.7% to RMB 2,513.7 million,

revenues from our mobile and telecommunications value-added services increased by 15.4% to RMB807.6 million and

revenues from online advertising increased by 84.9% to RMB493.0 million.

The Group’s audited profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007 was

RMB1,566.0 million, an increase of 47.2% compared with the results for the year ended 31 December 2006. Basic

and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2007 were RMB0.880 and RMB0.853 respectively.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

2007 was an exciting year for the Internet industry in China. During 2007, the number of Internet users in China

exceeded 200 million for the first time, reaching 210 million by the end of 2007, according to China Internet Network

Information Center. This represented a year-on-year growth rate of 53%, compared to 23% in the year of 2006.

Despite the increased user base, growth rate in Internet users has actually accelerated as opposed to decelerated,

reflecting the vibrant underlying trend in the industry. In addition to growth in Internet users, we believe Internet has

increasingly become a part of everyday life for Chinese people. The widespread availability of broadband connections

has given rise to a multitude of broadband applications that allow people to stay connected with each other, to get

entertained, and to get access to information. In the area of online communication and communities, social

networking, an Internet service that allows users to share their profiles, diaries, photos and other information with their

network of friends, has become very popular, supplementing traditional communication services such as instant

messaging and email. In the area of online entertainment, online games have seen another year of strong growth, with

the number of online game players in China growing 23% from last year to reach 40 million in 2007, according to the

General Administration of Press and Publication of the People’s Republic of China. Online games have increasingly

become a mainstream entertainment for young people in China. User demand for online music and online video has

also increased significantly, although lack of proper regulations for intellectual property continued to be the main

constraints for sustainable growth in the industry. In the area of providing useful information to users, portals

continued to gain traction as a media for people to get access to news and other organized content, while search has

also grown as a means for people to get access to unorganized information. During the year of 2007, e-commerce has

also started to emerge as a mainstream Internet application as e-commerce enabling infrastructure, such as supplier

network, online payment and logistics in China, keeps improving.

At Tencent, we believe Internet technology and applications can significantly improve the quality of human life. Since

2005, we have been implementing our “Online Lifestyle” strategy which strives to utilize our online platforms and

applications to cater to four basic needs of our users — communication and community, entertainment, information

and e-commerce. We believe by providing an integrated suite of services, we can deliver increased levels of

convenience, data integration and data sharing that individual services cannot provide on a stand-alone basis. While

our services in certain areas, such as e-commerce, remained at a nascent stage of development, we have made

significant progress in 2007 in many areas of our “Online Lifestyle” strategy which will be described in later sections.

As an emerging industry, Internet presents many challenges along with the opportunities. During the past year, we

continued to face a challenging security environment with criminals spreading Trojan horses and viruses aimed at

stealing users’ various account information. As the largest registered Internet service provider in China, our services

were their primary target. Although the account security for our users has improved significantly since we introduced

an all-out battle against account theft in 2006, the struggle is ongoing. In addition to account security, we also faced

an increasingly competitive environment with competitive pressure coming from integrated Internet companies

expanding their scope of business as well as specialized companies competing in specific industry segments that we

operated in. To stay competitive, we continued to invest in research and development in order to improve the quality of

our existing products, as well as to develop new features and new products to cater to the changing needs of our

users. We also placed tremendous focus on building a stronger organization that can attract, develop and retain the

best engineering and business talents. By focusing on our users and our people, and taking a long-term approach in

building our business franchises, we believe we can capitalize on the long-term growth potential in the Internet

industry.



Tencent Holdings Limited    Annual Report 2007 11

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Fourth Quarter of 2007

Our unaudited consolidated revenues for the fourth quarter of 2007 were RMB1,122.2 million, an increase of 57.3%

over the same period in 2006 and an increase of 6.1% from the third quarter of 2007.

Revenues from our Internet value-added services for the fourth quarter of 2007 were RMB748.0 million, an increase of

71.3% over the same period in 2006 and an increase of 4.2% from the third quarter of 2007.

Revenues from our mobile and telecommunications value-added services for the fourth quarter of 2007 were

RMB211.6 million, an increase of 9.6% over the same period in 2006 and an increase of 9.4% from the third quarter

of 2007.

Revenues from online advertising for the fourth quarter of 2007 were RMB159.7 million, an increase of 95.9% over the

same period in 2006 and an increase of 10.4% from the third quarter of 2007.

Cost of revenues for the fourth quarter of 2007 were RMB318.9 million, an increase of 36.5% over the same period in

2006 and an increase of 8.1% from the third quarter of 2007.

Other gains, net for the fourth quarter of 2007 were RMB6.9 million, a decrease of 62.7% over the same period of

2006 and an increase of 36.1% from the third quarter of 2007.

Selling and marketing expenses for the fourth quarter of 2007 were RMB78.3 million, an increase of 6.7% over the

same period in 2006 and an increase of 0.4% from the third quarter of 2007.

General and administrative expenses for the fourth quarter of 2007 were RMB256.9 million, an increase of 42.5% over

the same period in 2006 and an increase of 17.2% from the third quarter of 2007.

Operating profit for the fourth quarter of 2007 was RMB475.0 million, representing an increase of 94.5% over the

same period in 2006 and an increase of 1.0% from the third quarter of 2007. As a percentage of revenues, operating

profit accounted for 42.3% for the fourth quarter of 2007, compared to 34.2% for the same period of 2006 and 44.5%

for the third quarter of 2007.

Profit for the fourth quarter of 2007 was RMB517.0 million, representing an increase of 96.1% over the same period in

2006 and an increase of 21.3% from the third quarter of 2007. As a percentage of revenues, profit for the period

accounted for 46.1% for the fourth quarter of 2007, compared to 37.0% for the same period of 2006 and 40.3% for

the third quarter of 2007.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for this quarter was RMB515.0 million, an increase of 95.3% over

the same period in 2006 and an increase of 20.8% from the third quarter of 2007.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Fourth Quarter of 2007 Compared to Third Quarter of 2007

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the fourth quarter of 2007 and the third quarter of 2007:

Unaudited Three months ended

31 December 30 September

2007 2007

(RMB in thousands)

Revenues 1,122,220 1,057,626

Cost of revenues (318,885) (295,112)

Gross profit 803,335 762,514

Other gains, net 6,851 5,033

Selling and marketing expenses (78,320) (78,039)

General and administrative expenses (256,884) (219,235)

Operating profit 474,982 470,273

Finance costs (58,860) (12,137)

Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity (317) (14)

Profit before income tax 415,805 458,122

Income tax benefit / (expense) 101,239 (31,813)

Profit for the period 517,044 426,309

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 514,964 426,401

Minority interest 2,080 (92)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenues. Revenues increased by 6.1% to RMB1,122.2 million for the fourth quarter of

2007 from RMB1,057.6 million for the third quarter of 2007. The following table sets

forth our revenues by line of business for the fourth quarter of 2007 and the third

quarter of 2007:

Three months ended

31 December 2007 30 September 2007

% of total % of total

Amount revenues Amount revenues

(RMB in thousands, except percentages)

Internet value-added services 747,988 66.6% 717,718 67.9%

Mobile and telecommunications 211,584 18.9% 193,481 18.3%

value-added services

Online advertising 159,708 14.2% 144,643 13.6%

Others 2,940 0.3% 1,784 0.2%

Total revenues 1,122,220 100.0% 1,057,626 100.0%

Although the fourth quarter in general is adversely affected by seasonal factors, revenues from our Internet value-

added services grew by 4.2% to RMB748.0 million for the fourth quarter of 2007 from RMB717.7 million for the third

quarter of 2007. Revenues from our online identity and community business, particularly QQ Pet and QQ Show,

decreased. The decrease in revenues from QQ Pet was mainly due to seasonal factors, while revenues from QQ Show

decreased as the service reached a comparatively mature stage in addition to seasonal factors.

However, such decrease was offset by an increase in revenues from Premium QQ as we

continued to enhance user loyalty through bundling more functionalities. Revenues from online

games increased by 22.2% to RMB281.7 million for the fourth quarter of 2007 from RMB230.6

million for the third quarter of 2007 due in particular to the growing popularity of games, such

as QQ Game, QQ SanGuo and QQ Huaxia, and the launch in the fourth quarter of a free-to-play,

itemized-charge version of QQ Fantasy to supplement the time-charge version. In addition, we

exercised our pre-negotiated right to acquire a majority stake in an investee company that co-

launched QQ Huaxia with us and began to consolidate 100% of the revenues from QQ Huaxia

as well as other revenues attributable to the investee company in our consolidated financial results starting from late

November 2007, as opposed to recognizing only the shared portion of revenues from QQ Huaxia prior to the

acquisition.

Revenues from our mobile and telecommunications value-added services increased by 9.4% to RMB211.6 million for

the fourth quarter of 2007 from RMB193.5 million for the third quarter of 2007. This increase mainly resulted from our

successful marketing, aimed at both promoting new bundled services and retaining existing users. As a result of these

marketing activities, revenues from communication-based SMS services grew, despite a migration of some users to a

new technical platform.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenues from online advertising increased by 10.4% to RMB159.7 million for the fourth

quarter of 2007 from RMB144.6 million for the third quarter of 2007. The increase was

mainly attributable to the improved recognition by customers of our brand as an effective

advertising platform.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues increased by 8.1% to RMB318.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2007 from

RMB295.1 million for the third quarter of 2007. The increase principally reflected increased bandwidth and server

custody fees, increased telecommunications operators’ revenue share, higher staff costs as our business volume

expanded and an increased amount of sales commissions paid to advertising agencies. As a percentage of revenues,

cost of revenues increased slightly to 28.4% for the fourth quarter of 2007 from 27.9% for the third quarter of 2007.

The following table sets forth our cost of revenues by line of business for the fourth quarter of 2007 and the third

quarter of 2007:

Three months ended

31 December 2007 30 September 2007

% of segment % of segment

Amount revenues Amount revenues

(RMB in thousands, except percentages)

Internet value-added services 187,342 25.0% 171,860 23.9%

Mobile and telecommunications 79,803 37.7% 76,544 39.6%

value-added services

Online advertising 42,218 26.4% 38,848 26.9%

Others 9,522 323.9% 7,860 440.6%

Total cost of revenues 318,885 295,112

Cost of revenues for our Internet value-added services increased by 9.0% to RMB187.3 million for the fourth quarter of

2007 from RMB171.9 million for the third quarter of 2007. The increase reflected higher

expenses associated with our bandwidth capacity and servers as usage increased as a

result of our business growth and as we continued to increase bandwidth and storage

intensive services. In addition, telecommunications operators’ revenue share and staff costs

increased as we expanded our business volume.

Cost of revenues for our mobile and telecommunications value-added services increased by 4.3% to RMB79.8 million

for the fourth quarter of 2007 from RMB76.5 million for the third quarter of 2007. The cost of revenues increased

mainly as a result of the increase in telecommunications operators’ revenue share resulting from the increase in our

business volume.

Cost of revenues for our online advertising increased by 8.7% to RMB42.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2007 from

RMB38.8 million for the third quarter of 2007. The increase mainly reflected an increased amount of sales

commissions paid to advertising agencies as the volume of our advertising business grew.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other gains, net. Other gains during the reported periods reflected primarily the interest

income generated from bank deposits and other interest-earning financial assets, fair

value gains on financial instruments, government subsidies received and impairment

charges. We recorded other gains of RMB6.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2007

compared to RMB5.0 million for the third quarter of 2007, an increase of 36.1%. The

increase mainly reflected increases in fair value gains on financial instruments, interest

income and government subsidies. These increases were partially offset by net losses of

RMB32.3 million relating to an acquisition completed in early 2006, consisting of impairment charges with respect to

intangible assets partially offset by gains recognized from the revision of relating earn-out consideration, and an

impairment charge of RMB23.8 million with respect to an investment in a nascent game company.

Selling and marketing expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased slightly by 0.4% to RMB78.3 million for the

fourth quarter of 2007 from RMB78.0 million for the third quarter of 2007. As a percentage of revenues, selling and

marketing expenses decreased to 7.0% in the fourth quarter of 2007 from 7.4% in the third quarter of 2007 as we

spread the expenses over a larger revenue base.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased by 17.2% to RMB256.9 million

for the fourth quarter of 2007 from RMB219.2 million for the third quarter of 2007. The increase was mainly due to the

continuing expansion of our strategic research and development staff as we focused on the enhancement of our

various products and services, including IM functionalities and online games, and as we increased our longer term

research activities which focus on further enhancing our technological platform so that we may be able to capitalize on

future innovations in technology. The increase was also attributable to the increased staff expenses as the scope and

scale of our business increased and increased amortization expenses of intangible assets following the acquisition of

several subsidiaries. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to 22.9% in the

fourth quarter of 2007 from 20.7% in the third quarter of 2007.

Finance costs. Finance costs during the reported periods mainly represented foreign exchange losses. We recorded a

significant increase in finance costs of RMB58.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2007 compared to RMB12.1 million

for the third quarter of 2007. The increase in finance costs recorded was mainly due to

the foreign exchange losses as the Renminbi appreciated against the US dollar,

particularly because we held a larger amount of US dollar-denominated attributable to

the amount of intra-group dividends remitted by our PRC subsidiaries to our offshore

subsidiaries, which amount was increased in order to reduce the possible withholding tax

that would be levied on dividends paid in 2008 or later upon the implementation of the

new enterprise income tax regulations.

Income tax benefit/(expense). We recorded income tax benefit of RMB101.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2007

compared to income tax expense of RMB31.8 million for the third quarter of 2007. The higher income tax benefit was

mainly due to the higher deferred tax assets of RMB146.4 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2007 as the volume

of intra-group sales of self-developed software and technology increased and the applicable tax

rates became higher under the new PRC enterprise income tax regulations that will become

effective in 2008, while deferred tax assets in the third quarter of 2007 was RMB24.0 million.

Pursuant to this new tax regulations and subsequent circular issued, companies will be subject

to a higher rate up to 25% with certain transitional arrangements for companies established

before 16 March 2007.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the period. As a result of the factors discussed above, profit for the period increased by 21.3% to RMB517.0

million for the fourth quarter of 2007 from RMB426.3 million for the third quarter of 2007. Net margin was 46.1% for

the fourth quarter of 2007 compared to 40.3% for the third quarter of 2007.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company increased by

20.8% to RMB515.0 million for this quarter from RMB426.4 million for the third quarter of 2007.

Year Ended 31 December 2007

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the year ended 31

December 2006:

Year ended 31 December

2007 2006

(RMB in thousands)

Revenues 3,820,923 2,800,441

Cost of revenues (1,117,557) (817,062)

Gross profit 2,703,366 1,983,379

Other gains, net 69,212 83,195

Selling and marketing expenses (297,439) (293,247)

General and administrative expenses (840,113) (610,022)

Operating profit 1,635,026 1,163,305

Finance costs (100,192) (46,534)

Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity (331) –

Profit before income tax 1,534,503 1,116,771

Income tax benefit / (expense) 33,505 (52,971)

Profit for the period 1,568,008 1,063,800

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 1,566,020 1,063,800

Minority interest 1,988 –
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenues. Revenues increased by 36.4% to RMB3,820.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2007 from

RMB2,800.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The following table sets forth our revenues by line of

business for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the year ended 31 December of 2006:

Year ended 31 December

2007 2006

% of total % of total

Amount revenues Amount revenues

(RMB in thousands, except percentages)

Internet value-added services 2,513,728 65.8% 1,825,343 65.2%

Mobile and telecommunications 807,645 21.1% 700,114 25.0%

value-added services

Online advertising 493,018 12.9% 266,684 9.5%

Others 6,532 0.2% 8,300 0.3%

Total revenues 3,820,923 100.0% 2,800,441 100.0%

Revenues from our Internet value-added services increased by 37.7% to RMB2,513.7 million for the year ended 31

December 2007 from RMB1,825.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. Revenues from our online identity

and community services, Premium QQ and various online games increased as we continued to enhance our

established services such as our QQ game portal and Premium QQ, built on the success of our online identity and

community services such as Qzone and QQ Pet, and introduced a variety of competitive new products such as QQ

SanGuo and QQ Huaxia. The increase was partially offset by a decrease in revenues from QQ Show, which suffered as

a more mature product that required revitalization. In the third quarter of 2007, we initiated the first phase of

upgrading our QQ Show products and services as part of an effort to revitalize QQ Show.

Revenues from our mobile and telecommunications value-added services increased by 15.4% to RMB807.6 million for

the year ended 31 December 2007 from RMB700.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The increase

mainly reflected an increase in revenues from bundled SMS services due to the enhancement of the functionalities of

our products and services. The increase was partially offset by the decrease in revenues from individual content-based

SMS services due to the impact of ongoing changes in the regulatory environment.

Revenues from online advertising increased by 84.9% to RMB493.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2007

from RMB266.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The increase reflected the growth in reach and traffic

on our primary advertising platforms, QQ IM, QQ.com and QQ game portal, our increased brand awareness as a result

of advertising activities associated with our QQ.com branding, and our growing customer base as we enhanced our

advertising sales team. In addition, advertising revenues relating to our search functions and other value-added

advertising, such as in-game advertising or QQ Live advertising, also contributed to the increase in revenues.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues increased by 36.8% to RMB1,117.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2007

from RMB817.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The increase principally reflected increased bandwidth

and server custody fees as we supported more bandwidth and storage intensive services, higher amounts of

telecommunications operators’ revenue share, increased staff costs as we increased the number of employees to
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

support our various services and products and increased sharing costs due to increases in revenues and enrichment of

content. As a percentage of revenues, cost of revenues remained stable at 29.2% for both the year ended 31

December 2007 and the year ended 31 December 2006. The following table sets forth our cost of revenues by line of

business for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the year ended 31 December 2006:

Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006

% of % of

segment segment

Amount revenues Amount revenues

(RMB in thousands, except percentages)

Internet value-added services 627,982 25.0% 426,191 23.3%

Mobile and telecommunications 310,110 38.4% 272,558 38.9%

value-added services

Online advertising 146,717 29.8% 93,940 35.2%

Others 32,748 501.3% 24,373 293.7%

Total cost of revenues 1,117,557 817,062

Cost of revenues for our Internet value-added services increased by 47.3% to RMB628.0 million for year ended 31

December 2007 from RMB426.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The increase mainly reflected higher

expenses associated with our bandwidth capacity and servers as usage increased as a result of our business growth

and as we continued to increase bandwidth and storage intensive services, increased telecommunications operators’

revenue share and increased staff costs to support our growing range of Internet value-added services. In addition,

sharing and subscription costs, in particular with respect to our licensed games and QQ Live, increased.

Cost of revenues for our mobile and telecommunications value-added services increased by 13.8% to RMB310.1

million for the year ended 31 December 2007 from RMB272.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The

increase was mainly due to increased telecommunications operators’ revenue share as our business volume grew.

Cost of revenues for our online advertising increased by 56.2% to RMB146.7 million for the year ended 31 December

2007 from RMB93.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The increase mainly reflected the increased sales

commissions paid to advertising agencies as the volume of our advertising contracts increased. In addition, we

continued to increase the number of staff on our online advertising team, and incurred higher expenses associated

with our bandwidth capacity and servers as we supported more bandwidth intensive advertising format and enhanced

the capacity of our online advertising platform.

Other gains, net. We recorded other gains of RMB69.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2007 compared to

RMB83.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2006, a decrease of 16.8%. For the year ended 31 December 2007,

we recognized net losses of RMB32.3 million relating to an acquisition completed in early 2006, consisting of

impairment charges with respect to intangible assets partially offset by gains recognized from the revision of relating

earn-out consideration, and an impairment charge of RMB23.8 million with respect to an investment in a nascent

game company. The net losses and impairment charge were partially offset by an increase in government subsidies

from RMB15.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2006 to RMB33.2 million for the year ended 31 December
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2007 and an increase in interest income and fair value gains on financial instruments. In addition, charitable donations

decreased from RMB20.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2006 to RMB12.0 million for the year ended 31

December 2007.

Selling and marketing expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased by 1.4% to RMB297.4 million for the year

ended 31 December 2007 from RMB293.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The increase principally

reflected increased promotional and advertising activities in connection with our QQ.com branding and increased

outsourcing expenses as we expanded our customer support activities, partly offset by the reduced marketing spend in

relation to wireless value-added services amid a challenging industry environment. As a percentage of revenues, selling

and marketing expenses decreased to 7.8% in the year ended 31 December 2007 from 10.5% in the year ended 31

December 2006.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased by 37.7% to RMB840.1 million

for the year ended 31 December 2007 from RMB610.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The increase

primarily reflected the increase in research and development costs as a result of an increase in the number of research

and development staff and technical personnel for developing new products and services to drive our future growth,

including IM functionalities and online games, and as we increased our longer-term research activities which focus on

further enhancing our technological platform so that we may be able to capitalize on future innovations in technology.

Staff costs and our operating lease expenses also increased as a result of a higher number of staff employed to support

our business expansion. In addition, we had higher amortization expenses of intangible assets following the acquisition

of several subsidiaries. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses increased slightly to 22.0%

in the year ended 31 December 2007 from 21.8 % in the year ended 31 December 2006.

Finance costs. Finance costs represent foreign exchange losses and interest expenses arising from the discounting of

“earn-out” consideration in connection with the acquisition of the Joymax Group. We recorded finance costs of

RMB100.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2007 compared to RMB46.5 million for the year ended 31

December 2006. The increase in finance costs recorded was mainly due to the foreign exchange loss as the Renminbi

appreciated against the US dollar, particularly because we held a larger amount of US dollar-denominated attributable

to the amount of intra-group dividends remitted by our PRC subsidiaries to our offshore subsidiaries, which amount

was increased in order to reduce the possible withholding tax that would be levied on dividends paid in 2008 or later

upon the implementation of the new enterprise income tax regulations.

Income tax benefit/(expense). We recorded income tax benefit of RMB33.5 million for the year ended 31 December

2007 compared to income tax expense of RMB53.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. The higher income

tax benefit was mainly due to the recognition of RMB198.6 million of deferred tax assets in the year ended 31

December 2007 compared to RMB62.4 million of deferred tax assets recognized in the year ended 31 December

2006. We recognized a significantly higher amount of deferred tax assets as the volume of intra-group sales of self-

developed software and technology increased and the applicable tax rates became higher under the new enterprise

income tax law that will become effective in 2008.

Profit for the period. Profit for the period increased by 47.4% to RMB1,568.0 million for the year ended 31 December

2007 from RMB1,063.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2006. Net margin was 41.0% for the year ended 31

December 2007 compared to 38.0% for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company increased by

47.2% to RMB1,566.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2007 from RMB1,063.8 million for the year ended 31

December 2006.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2007 and 30 September 2007, we had the following major financial resources in the form of cash

and investments:

Audited Unaudited

31 December 30 September

2007 2007

(RMB in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents 2,948,757 2,320,844

Term deposits with initial term of over three months 604,486 914,240

Financial assets held for trading 266,495 221,914

Held-to-maturity investments 73,046 150,216

Total 3,892,784 3,607,214

Note: The above table excludes RMB300.0 million of restricted deposits pledged as part of a US$40.0 million short-term bank

borrowing arrangement, as such deposits are scheduled to offset the borrowed amounts at the maturity of the loan.

A large portion of our financial assets are held in deposits and investments denominated in US dollars. Since there are

no cost-effective hedges against the appreciation of Renminbi and no effective manner to generally convert a

significant amount of US dollar into Renminbi, which is not a freely exchangeable currency, there is a risk that we may

experience a loss as a result of any foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations in connection with our deposits and

investments, especially when more money has been repatriated out of China into US dollar and the depreciation trend

of US dollar against Renminbi has accelerated in the first quarter of 2008.

We had no other interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2007.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

In the year ended 31 December 2007, our capital expenditures consisted of additions to fixed assets, investment

property, construction in progress, leasehold land and land use rights and intangible assets totalling RMB1,288.0

million (including capital expenditures in relation to acquisition of subsidiaries amounting to RMB313.0 million). In the

year ended 31 December 2006, our capital expenditures consisted of similar items totalling RMB478.1 million.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to

the consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of the Group’s revenues and contribution to results by business segments and the Group’s revenues by

geographical area of operations are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 55 of this annual report.

The directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKD0.16 per share for the year ended 31

December 2007. The dividend is expected to be payable on 28 May 2008 to shareholders whose names appear on the

Register of Members of the Company on 14 May 2008. The total dividend for the year under review is HKD0.16 per

share.

RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise share premium and retained earnings. Under the

Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is distributable to shareholders of the Company

provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed the Company will be

in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2007, the Company had distributable reserves amounting to RMB2,092.9 million (2006: RMB

1,528.1 million).

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in Note 21 and

Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial

statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in Note 21 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007 are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated

financial statements.

BANK LOANS

Particulars of the Group’s bank borrowing is set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the condensed consolidated results and financial positions of the Group is set out on page 3.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The application of the proceeds from the initial public offering does not materially change from the possible allocation

outlined in the prospectus of the Company dated 7 June 2004.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Company repurchased 3,438,000 shares on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of

HKD110,585,000 before expenses. The repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled. The repurchases were

effected by the Directors for the enhancement of shareholder value in the long term. Details of the shares repurchased

are as follows:

Purchase consideration per share

No. of Aggregate

shares Highest Lowest consideration

Month of purchase in 2007 purchased price paid price paid paid

HKD HKD HKD

July 948,000 33.20 32.40 31,235,000

August 2,490,000 34.45 28.90 79,350,000

Total 3,438,000 110,585,000

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company’s shares during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted three share option schemes, namely the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO

Option Scheme”), Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Post-IPO Option Scheme I”) and the Share Option Scheme

adopted on 16 May 2007 (the “Post-IPO Option Scheme II”). No further options will be granted under the Pre-IPO

Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Option Scheme I.

As at 31 December 2007, there were a total of 12,903,600 outstanding share options granted to the directors of the

Company, details of which are as follows:

Number of share options

Exercise As at 1 Granted Exercised As at 31

price January during during December

Name of director Date of grant (HKD) 2007 the year the year 2007 Exercise period

Lau Chi Ping 3 February 2005 4.8 4,473,600 – 1,370,000 3,103,600 3 February 2006

Martin (Note 1) to 23 March 2014 (Note 2)

20 December 2005 8.35 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 20 December 2006

to 23 March 2014 (Note 2)

23 March 2006 11.55 1,500,000 – – 1,500,000 23 March 2007 to

23 March 2014 (Note 2)

4 April 2007 25.26 – 1,000,000 – 1,000,000 4 April 2008

 (Note 4) to 23 March 2014 (Note 3)

5 July 2007 33.05 – 2,000,000 – 2,000,000 5 July 2009

(Note 5) to 4 July 2014 (Note 6)

5 July 2007 33.05 – 3,000,000 – 3,000,000 5 July 2010

(Note 5) to 4 July 2014 (Note 7)

Total 7,973,600 6,000,000 1,370,000 12,603,600

Li Dong Sheng 4 April 2007 25.26 – 100,000 – 100,000 4 April 2008

(Note 4) to 23 March 2014 (Note 3)

Iain Ferguson 4 April 2007 25.26 – 100,000 – 100,000 4 April 2008

Bruce (Note 4) to 23 March 2014 (Note 3)

Ian Charles Stone 4 April 2007 25.26 – 100,000 – 100,000 4 April 2008

(Note 4) to 23 March 2014 (Note 3)

Grand Total 7,973,600 6,300,000 1,370,000 12,903,600
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Note:

1. Mr Lau was appointed as Director of the Company on 21 March 2007.

2. For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of options, the first 25% of the option can be

exercised one year after the grant date, and 25% each of the total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year.

3. For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of options, the first 20% of the option can be

exercised one year after the grant date, and 20% each of the total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year.

4. The closing price immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HKD25.15.

5. The closing price immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HKD32.80.

6. For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of options, the first 20% of the option can be

exercised two years after the grant date, and 20% each of the total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year.

7. For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of options, the first 20% of the option can be

exercised three years after the grant date, and then each 20% of the total options will become exercisable in each subsequent

year, except the last 20% of the total options which will become exercisable in the eleventh month after the fourth 20% of the

total options become exercisable.

8. The weighted average closing price immediately before the date on which the options were exercised was HKD40.53.

9. No option was cancelled/lapsed during the period.

10. Fair values of the options granted during the period are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements as included

in this annual report.
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SUMMARY OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Details Pre-IPO Option Scheme Post-IPO Option Scheme I Post-IPO Option Scheme II

any employee (whether full

time or part time), executives

or officers, directors

(including executive, non-

executive and independent

non-executive directors) of

any member of the Group or

any Invested Entity, which is

any entity in which the Group

holds an equity interest, and

any consultant, adviser or

agent of any member of the

Board, have contributed or

will contribute to the growth

and development of the

Group or any Invested Entity

Any employee, consultant or

director of any company

within the Group

Any eligible employee,

including executive directors

of the Company

2. Qualifying

participants

1. Purposes To recognize the contribution that certain individuals have made to the Group, to attract the best

available personnel and to promote the success of the Group’s business
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The option period is

determined according to the

Board provided that it is not

later than the last day of the

7-year period after the date of

grant of option. There is no

minimum period for which an

option must be held before it

can be exercised.

The option period is

determined according to the

Board provided that the

period during which the

option may be exercised shall

not be less than one year

from the date of grant of the

option.

All the options are

exercisable in installments

from the commencement of

the relevant vesting period

until 31 December 2011, but

on the condition that the

Company has been listed in a

sizeable securities market.

The Board may at their

discretion determine the

specific vesting and exercise

periods.

5. Option

period

Details Pre-IPO Option Scheme Post-IPO Option Scheme I Post-IPO Option Scheme II

The maximum number of

shares in respect of which

options may be granted

under the Post-IPO Option

Scheme II shall be

88,903,654 shares, 5% of

the relevant class of

securities of the Company in

issue as at 16 May 2007. The

maximum number of shares

which may be issued upon

exercise of all outstanding

options granted and yet to be

exercised under the Post-IPO

Option Scheme II and any

other share option schemes,

including the Pre-IPO Option

Scheme and the Post-IPO

Option Scheme I, must not in

aggregate exceed 30% of the

issued share capital from

time to time (Note).

As at 16 May 2007, options

to subscribe for an aggregate

of 60,413,683 shares were

outstanding. No further

option could be granted

under the Post-IPO Option

Scheme I.

As at 7 June 2004, options to

subscribe for an aggregate of

72,386,370 shares were

outstanding. No further

option could be granted

under the Pre-IPO Option

Scheme.

3. Maximum

number of

shares

1% of the issued share

capital of the Company from

time to time within any 12-

month period up to the date

of the latest grant

1% of the issued share

capital of the Company from

time to time within any 12-

month period up to the date

of the latest grant

The number of ordinary

shares in respect of which

options may be granted is not

permitted to exceed 10% of

the number of ordinary

shares issued and issuable

under the scheme.

4. Maximum

entitlement

of each

participant
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Details Pre-IPO Option Scheme Post-IPO Option Scheme I Post-IPO Option Scheme II

Note: The total number of shares available for issue under the Post IPO Option Scheme II is 65,323,321 which is approximately

3.64% of the issued share capital as at the date of the annual report.

The exercise price must be at

least the higher of: (i) the

closing price of the securities

as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations

sheet on the date of grant,

which must be a business

day; (ii) the average closing

price of the securities as

stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations

sheets for the five business

days immediately preceding

the date of grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of a share.

The exercise price must be at

least the higher of: (i) the

closing price of the securities

as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations

sheet on the date of grant,

which must be a business

day; (ii) the average closing

price of the securities as

stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations

sheets for the five business

days immediately preceding

the date of grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of a share.

Price shall be determined by

the Board.

7. Subscription

price

It shall be valid and effective

for a period of ten years

commencing on 16 May

2007.

It will remain in force for a

period of ten years,

commencing on 24 March

2004.

It will expire on 31 December

2011.

8. Remaining

life of the

scheme

Options granted must be

taken up within 28 days of

the date of grant, upon

payment of HKD1 per grant.

Options granted must be

taken up within 28 days of

the date of grant, upon

payment of HKD1 per grant.

Options granted must be

taken up within 15 days of

the date of grant, upon

payment of RMB1 per grant.

6. Acceptance

of offer
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MOVEMENTS OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Details of the movements in the share option schemes during the year are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated

financial statements.

VALUATION OF SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the valuation of share option during the year are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 13 December 2007 (“Adoption Date”), the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) adopted the Share

Award Scheme (the “Scheme”) in which eligible persons (including any director) of the Group will be entitled to

participate. Unless early terminated by the Board, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years

commencing on the Adoption Date. The maximum numbers of shares which can be awarded under the Scheme and to

an awarded person are limited to two percent (i.e. 35,755,232 shares) and one percent (i.e. 17,877,616 shares) of the

issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date respectively. The Board amended the definition of

excluded person in the Scheme on 31 January 2008 so that substantial shareholders of the Group will be allowed to

join the Scheme.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board shall select the eligible persons for participation in the Scheme and determine the

number of shares to be awarded (“Awarded Shares”). Shares will be acquired by the independent trustee at the cost of

the Company or shares will be allotted to the independent trustee under the general mandate granted or to be granted

by the shareholders of the Company at general meetings from time to time and be held in trust for the awarded

persons, excluding the directors and substantial shareholders of the Group, until the end of each vesting period.

Vested shares will be transferred at no cost to the awarded persons. The Company shall comply with the relevant

Listing Rules when granting the awarded shares.

If awards are made to directors or substantial shareholders of the Group, such awards shall constitute connected

transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company shall comply with the relevant requirements

under the Listing Rules.

Awarded Shares and the related income derived therefrom are subject to a vesting scale to be determined by the

Board at the date of the grant of the award. Vesting of the Awarded Shares will be conditional on the awarded person

satisfying all vesting conditions specified by the Board at the time of making the award until and on each of the

relevant vesting dates and his/her execution of the relevant documents to effect the transfer from the trustee.

During the period since the date of adoption of the Scheme, there were no shares awarded.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ma Huateng (Chairman)

Lau Chi Ping Martin (Appointed on 21 March 2007)

Zhang Zhidong

Non-Executive Directors

Antonie Andries Roux

Charles St Leger Searle

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Li Dong Sheng

Iain Ferguson Bruce

Ian Charles Stone

In accordance with Article 87 of the articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”), Messrs Antonie

Andries Roux and Li Dong Sheng will retire at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held on 14

May 2008 and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive director an annual confirmation of his independence

pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and we consider them to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Ma Huateng, age 36, is an executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr

Ma has overall responsibilities for strategic planning and positioning and management of the Group. Mr Ma is one of

the core founders and has been employed by the Group since 1999. Prior to his current employment, Mr Ma was in

charge of research and development for Internet paging system development at China Motion Telecom Development

Limited, a supplier of telecommunications services and products in China. Mr Ma is a member of the 4th Shenzhen

Municipal People’s Congress. Mr Ma has a Bachelor of Science degree specializing in Computer & its Application

obtained in 1993 from Shenzhen University and more than 13 years of experience in the telecommunications and

Internet industries. He is also a director of Advance Data Services Limited which has interest in the shares of the

Company.
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Lau Chi Ping Martin, age 34, is an executive Director with effect from 21 March 2007. Mr Lau was appointed as the

President of the Company in February 2006 to assist Mr Ma Huateng, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive

Officer, in managing the day-to-day operation of the Company. In February 2005, he joined the Company as the Chief

Strategy and Investment Officer of the Company, and was responsible for corporate strategies, investment, merger and

acquisitions and investor relations. Prior to joining the Company, Mr Lau was an Executive Director at Goldman Sachs

(Asia) L.L.C’s investment banking division and the Chief Operating Officer of its Telecom, Media and Technology

Group. Prior to that, he worked at Mckinsey & Company, Inc. as a management consultant. He has over 11 years’

experience in IPO, merger and acquisitions and management consulting. Mr Lau received a Bachelor of Science

Degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Michigan, a Master of Science Degree in Electrical Engineering

from Stanford University and a MBA from Kellogg Graduate School of Management, Northwestern University. Mr Lau is

currently a non-executive director of Yingli Green Energy Holding Company Limited, a China-based vertically integrated

photovoltaic product manufacturer that is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Zhang Zhidong, age 36, is an executive Director and Chief Technology Officer of the Company. Mr Zhang has overall

responsibilities for the development of our proprietary technologies, including the basic IM platform and massive-scale

online application systems. Mr Zhang is one of the core founders and has been employed by the Group since 1999.

Prior to his current employment, Mr Zhang worked at Liming Network Group focusing on software and network

application systems research and development. Mr Zhang has a Bachelor of Science degree specializing in Computer

& its Application obtained in 1993 from Shenzhen University and a Master’s degree in Computer Application and

System Structure from South China University of Technology obtained in 1996. Mr Zhang has more than 11 years of

experience in the telecommunications and Internet industries. He is also a director of Best Update International

Limited which has interest in the shares of the Company.

Antonie Andries Roux, age 49, has been a non-executive Director since 10 December 2002. Mr Roux is currently Chief

Executive Officer of Internet Operations for the MIH group companies, a position he has held since 2002. Mr Roux

joined the Naspers group in 1979 and was a founding member of M-Net in 1985. In 1997, he was appointed Chief

Executive Officer of M-Web South Africa. Currently, Mr Roux serves on the boards of directors of a number of

companies that are subsidiaries of or associated companies with MIH, including Sportscn, Mweb (Thailand) Limited

and M-Web Holdings (Pty) Limited. Mr Roux has more than 28 years of experience in the telecommunications industry.

Charles St Leger Searle, age 44, has been a non-executive Director since 5 June 2001. Mr Searle is currently the

Director of Corporate Development for the MIH group companies in Asia. Prior to joining the MIH group companies, he

held various corporate finance positions at Cable & Wireless plc and Hong Kong Telecom. Prior to joining Cable &

Wireless plc, he was a senior corporate finance manager at Deloitte & Touche in London and Sydney. Currently, Mr

Searle serves on the boards of directors of a number of companies that are subsidiaries of or associated companies

with MIH. Mr Searle graduated from the University of Cape Town in 1987 with a Bachelor of Commerce degree and is

a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (1992). Mr Searle has more than 14 years of

experience in the telecommunications and Internet industries.

Li Dong Sheng, age 51, has been an independent non-executive Director since April 2004. Mr Li is the Chairman and

CEO of TCL Corporation, the Chairman of the Hong Kong listed TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited and the

Chairman of the Hong Kong listed TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited, all of which produce consumer

electronic products. Mr Li graduated from Huanan Polytechnic University in 1982 with a Bachelor degree in radio

technology and has more than 13 years of experience in the information technology field.



Tencent Holdings Limited    Annual Report 2007 31

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Iain Ferguson Bruce, age 67, has been an independent non-executive Director since April 2004. Mr Bruce joined

KPMG in Hong Kong in 1964 and was elected to its partnership in 1971. He was the Senior Partner of KPMG from

1991 until his retirement in 1996 and served as Chairman of KPMG Asia Pacific from 1993 to 1997. Since 1964, Mr

Bruce has been a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland and is a fellow of the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 43 years’ experience in the accounting profession. He is also a

fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a member of The Hong Kong Securities Institute. Mr Bruce is

currently an independent non-executive director of Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited, a construction and engineering

services company, Vitasoy International Holdings Limited, a beverage manufacturing company, and Wing On Company

International Limited, a department store operating and real property investment company; all of these companies are

publicly listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr Bruce is also a non-executive director of Noble Group Limited, a

commodity trading company that is publicly listed in Singapore, of China Medical Technologies, Inc., a China-based

medical device company that is listed on NASDAQ, and of Yingli Green Energy Holding Company Limited, a China-

based vertically integrated photovoltaic product manufacturer that is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr Bruce

is a steward of The Hong Kong Jockey Club, an independent non-executive director of Citibank (Hong Kong) Limited

and is the Chairman of KCS Limited.

Ian Charles Stone, age 57, has been an independent non-executive Director since April 2004. Mr Stone is a consultant

for Pacific Century CyberWorks (“PCCW”) and a director, and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), of UK Broadband, a

100% owned subsidiary of PCCW conducting business in the United Kingdom. Mr Stone has more than 37 years of

experience in the telecom and mobile industries. He was the CEO of SmarTone between 1999 and 2001. Prior to

joining SmarTone, he was Senior Adviser to First Pacific/PLDT of the First Pacific Group, Chief Operations Officer of

Piltel, Managing Director of Pacific Link and Executive Director of Asialink, the regional telecom investment arm of First

Pacific, respectively. Mr Stone has also held senior positions at Cable & Wireless plc and Hong Kong Telecom.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Messrs Ma Huateng and Zhang Zhidong has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of

three years from 25 March 2007. The term of each service contract can be extended by agreement between the

Company and the relevant Director. The Company may terminate the contracts by three months’ written notice at any

time, subject to paying the Director his salary for the shorter of six months and a portion of his annual bonus for the

year in which termination occurred pro rata to the portion of the year before the termination became effective.

Mr Lau Chi Ping Martin has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years from 3 February

2008. Mr Lau is entitled to an annual bonus based on the performance of the Company in an amount to be determined

by the Remuneration Committee. Mr Lau is entitled to participate in all employee benefit plans, programs and

arrangements of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service

contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the

Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2007, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief executive of the Company in

the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of

Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which

they have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to

section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required,

pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies in the Listing Rules, to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(A) Long and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of Percentage

Long/short Nature Shares/underlying of issued

Name of Director position of interests shares held share capital

Ma Huateng Long position Corporate (Note 1) 229,196,080 12.81%

Short position Corporate (Note 1) 2,413,000 0.13%

Zhang Zhidong Long position Corporate (Note 2) 83,000,000 4.64%

Lau Chi Ping Martin Long position Personal 12,659,400 0.71%

(Note 3)

Li Dong Sheng Long position Personal 100,000 0.01%

(Note 4)

Iain Ferguson Bruce Long position Personal 100,000 0.01%

(Note 4)

Ian Charles Stone Long position Personal 100,000 0.01%

(Note 4)

Notes:

1 These shares are held by Advance Data Services Limited, a BVI company wholly owned by Ma Huateng.

2 These shares are held by Best Update International Limited, a BVI company wholly owned by Zhang Zhidong.

3 The interest comprises 55,800 shares and 12,603,600 underlying shares in respect of the share options granted

pursuant to the Post-IPO Option Scheme I and Post-IPO Option Scheme II. Details of the share options granted to the

directors are set out above under “Share Option Schemes”.

4 The interest represents the underlying shares in respect of the share options granted pursuant to the Post-IPO Option

Scheme I. Details of the share options granted to the directors are set out above under “Share Option Schemes”.
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(B) Long position in the shares in associated corporations

Number of

shares and Percentage

Name of Nature class of of issued

Name of Director associated corporation of interest shares held share capital

Ma Huateng Shenzhen Tencent Personal RMB9,500,000 47.5%

Computer Systems (registered capital)

Company Limited

(“Tencent Computer”)

Shenzhen Shiji Personal RMB5,225,000 47.5%

Kaixuan Technology (registered capital)

Company Limited

(“Shiji Kaixuan”)

Zhang Zhidong Tencent Computer Personal RMB4,000,000 20%

(registered capital)

Shiji Kaixuan Personal RMB2,200,000 20%

(registered capital)

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executive and their associates, had interests or short positions

in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations as at 31 December

2007.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The waiver granted by the Stock Exchange regarding the compliance with the applicable disclosure, reporting and

shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules when the Company was listed in June

2004 was referred to. The Company’s Independent Non-Executive Directors reviewed the Structure Contracts and

confirmed that the transactions carried out during the financial year had been entered into in accordance with the

relevant provisions of the Structure Contracts, had been operated so as to transfer by the date of this annual report

Tencent Computer’s and Shiji Kaixuan’s Surplus Cash (as defined in the section “Our History and Structure - Structure

Contracts” of the IPO prospectus) as at 31 December 2007 to Tencent Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited

(“Tencent Technology”), Tencent Cyber (Tianjin) Company Limited (“Cyber Tianjin”) (formerly known as Shidai

Zhaoyang Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited in the IPO prospectus), Tencent Technology (Beijing) Company

Limited (“Tencent Beijing”), Tencent Cyber (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Cyber Shenzhen”) and no dividends or

other distributions had been made by Tencent Computer or Shiji Kaixuan to the holders of their equity interests and

any new Structure Contracts entered into, renewed and/or cloned during the relevant financial period had been fair

and reasonable so far as the Group was concerned and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole. To

this extent, Structure Contracts were entered into relating to Beijing Emark Information and Technology Co., Ltd.

(“Beijing Emark”) , Nanjing Wang Dian Technology Company Limited (“Wang Dian”), Beijing BIZCOM Technology

Company Limited (“Beijing BIZCOM”), Beijing Starsinhand Technology Company Limited (“Beijing Starsinhand”),

Shenzhen Shiji Tian You Technology Company Limited (“Shiji Tian You”). No transactions were carried out during the

year ended 31 December 2007 concerning Beijing Emark ,Wang Dian, Beijing BIZCOM, Beijing Starsinhand and Shiji

Tian You.

The Auditors had carried out review procedures on the transactions pursuant to the Structure Contracts and had

provided a letter to the Board confirming that the transactions had been approved by the Board and had been entered

into in accordance with the relevant Structure Contracts and had been operated so as to transfer Tencent Computer’s

and Shiji Kaixuan’s Surplus Cash as at 31 December 2007 to Tencent Technology, Tencent Beijing, Cyber Tianjin and

Cyber Shenzhen and that no dividends or other distributions had been made by Tencent Computer or Shiji Kaixuan to

the holders of its equity interests.

Transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December 2007, which have been eliminated in the consolidated

financial statements of the Group, are set out as follows:

1. A cooperation framework contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent Technology and Tencent Computer

(“TCS CFC”) pursuant to which the parties agree to cooperate in the provision of communications services.

Tencent Technology and its affiliates agree to allow Tencent Computer to use its and its affiliates’ assets and

provide services to Tencent Computer. As consideration, Tencent Computer agrees to transfer all of its Surplus

Cash to Tencent Technology and its affiliates. The parties also established a cooperation committee (“TCS

Cooperative Committee”) according to this agreement. During the year, other than the Structure Contracts

mentioned below, Tencent Computer purchased technology amounting to approximately RMB300,000,000 from

Tencent Technology’s affiliate, Tencent Beijing and RMB100,000,000 from Tencent Technology. Tencent

Computer purchased software amounting to approximately RMB212,000 (including value-added tax) from

Tencent Technology’s affiliate, Cyber Shenzhen and RMB87,750,000 (including value-added tax) from Tencent

Technology.
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2. A cooperation framework contract dated 28 February 2004, between Cyber Tianjin and Shiji Kaixuan (“SKT

CFC”) pursuant to which the parties agree to cooperate in the provision of communications services. Cyber

Tianjin and its affiliates agree to allow Shiji Kaixuan to use its and its affiliates’ assets and provide services to Shiji

Kaixuan. As consideration, Shiji Kaixuan agrees to transfer all of its Surplus Cash to Cyber Tianjin and its

affiliates. The parties also established a cooperation committee (“SKT Cooperative Committee”) according to this

agreement. During the year, other than the Structure Contracts mentioned below, Shiji Kaixuan purchased

technology amounting to approximately RMB160,000,000 from Tencent Technology’s affliliate, Tencent Beijing;

Shiji Kaixuan purchased software amounting to approximately RMB81,900,000 (including value-added tax) from

Cyber Tianjin’s affiliate, Tencent Technology; and RMB1,590,000 (including value-added tax) from Cyber Tianjin.

3. An amended and restated intellectual property transfer contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent

Technology and Tencent Computer pursuant to which Tencent Computer assigned to Tencent Technology its

principal present and future intellectual property rights, free from encumbrances (except for licenses granted in

the ordinary course of Tencent Computer’s business) in consideration of Tencent Technology’s undertaking to

provide certain technology and information services to Tencent Computer. During the year, no intellectual

property transfer was transacted under such arrangement, save as disclosed elsewhere in this section.

4. An intellectual property transfer contract dated 28 February 2004 between Cyber Tianjin and Shiji Kaixuan

pursuant to which Shiji Kaixuan assigned to Cyber Tianjin its principal present and future intellectual property

rights, free from encumbrance (except for licenses granted in the ordinary course of Shiji Kaixuan’s business) in

consideration of Cyber Tianjin’s undertaking to provide certain technology and information services to Shiji

Kaixuan. During the year, no intellectual property transfer was transacted under such arrangement, save as

disclosed elsewhere in this section.

5. A domain name license contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent Technology, as licensor, and

Tencent Computer, as licensee, pursuant to which Tencent Technology granted to Tencent Computer a non-

exclusive license to use specified domain names against payment of annual royalties determined by the TCS

Cooperation Committee within a range of percentages of Tencent Computer’s annual revenues. During the year,

no domain name license was transacted under such arrangement, save as disclosed elsewhere in this section.

6. A domain name license contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent Technology, as licensor, and Shiji

Kaixuan, as licensee, pursuant to which Tencent Technology granted Shiji Kaixuan a non-exclusive license to use

specified domain names against payment of annual royalties determined as a percentage of Shiji Kaixuan’s

annual revenues (which may be adjusted pursuant to the contract or the SKT CFC). During the year, no domain

name license was transacted under such arrangement, save as disclosed elsewhere in this section.

7. A trademark license contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent Technology, as licensor, and Tencent

Computer, as licensee, pursuant to which Tencent Technology granted to Tencent Computer a non-exclusive

license to use specified trademarks against payment of annual royalties determined as a percentage of Tencent

Computer’s annual revenues (which may be adjusted pursuant to the contract or the TCS CFC). During the year,

no trademark license was transacted under such arrangement, save as disclosed elsewhere in this section.
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8. A trademark license contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent Technology, as licensor, and Shiji

Kaixuan, as licensee, pursuant to which Tencent Technology granted Shiji Kaixuan a non-exclusive license to use

specified trademarks against payment of annual royalties determined as a percentage of Shiji Kaixuan’s annual

revenues (which may be adjusted pursuant to the contract or the SKT CFC). During the year, no trademark

license was transacted under such arrangement, save as disclosed elsewhere in this section.

9. An information consultancy services contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent Technology, as

consultant, and Tencent Computer, pursuant to which Tencent Technology will provide specified information

consultancy services to Tencent Computer against payment of an annual consultancy service fee determined by

the TCS Cooperation Committee within a range of percentages of Tencent Computer’s annual revenues. During

the year, a fee of approximately RMB50,564,000 was transacted under such arrangement.

10. A technical consultancy services contract dated 28 February 2004, between Tencent Technology, as consultant,

and Shiji Kaixuan, pursuant to which Tencent Technology will provide specified technical consultancy services to

Shiji Kaixuan against payment of an annual consultancy service fee determined by the SKT Cooperation

Committee within a range of percentages of Shiji Kaixuan’s annual revenues. During the year, a fee of

approximately RMB21,454,000 was transacted under such arrangement.

Details of the related parties transactions are set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2007, the following persons, other than the directors or chief executive of the Company, had an

interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares in the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the

issued share capital of the Company:

Long and short positions in the shares in the Company

Percentage

of issued

Name of shareholder Long/short position Nature of interest Number of shares share capital

MIH China (BVI) Limited Long position Corporate (Note 1) 630,240,380 35.24%

Advance Data Services Limited Long position Corporate (Note 2) 229,196,080 12.81%

Short position Corporate (Note 2) 2,413,000 0.13%

ABSA Bank Limited Long position Corporate (Note 3) 185,000,000 10.34%
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Notes:

1 As MIH China (BVI) Limited (formerly known as MIH QQ (BVI) Limited) (“MIH”) is wholly owned by Naspers Limited through its

intermediary companies MIH (Mauritius) Limited (formerly known as MIH (BVI) Limited) and MIH Holdings Limited. Naspers

Limited, MIH (Mauritius) Limited and MIH Holdings Limited are deemed to be interested in the same block of 630,240,380

Shares under Part XV of the SFO. Out of the 630,240,380 shares held by MIH, 185,000,000 shares are pledged to ABSA Bank

Limited, as referenced in Note 3 below.

2 As Advance Data Services Limited is wholly owned by Ma Huateng, Mr Ma has interest in these shares as disclosed under the

section of “Directors’ Interests in Securities”.

3 As ABSA Bank Limited has a security interest in 185,000,000 Shares, which are held by MIH China (BVI) Limited, and ABSA

Bank Limited is wholly owned by Barclays Bank PLC through its intermediary company ABSA Group Limited, Barclays Bank

PLC and ABSA Group Limited are deemed to be interested in the same block of 185,000,000 Shares under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other persons (other than a director or chief

executive of the Company) who, as at 31 December 2007, had an interest or short position in the shares and

underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING BUSINESS

MIH is wholly owned by Naspers Limited through its wholly owned intermediate holding companies, MIH (Mauritius)

Limited and MIH Holdings Limited. Naspers Limited is listed on the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa and the

London Stock Exchange.

Naspers Limited is a multinational media group that conducts its activities through subsidiaries, joint ventures and

associated companies, with its principal operations in pay-television and Internet platforms, print media, book

publishing and technology markets. The MIH group is a multinational provider of entertainment, interactive and e-

media services with operations spanning over 50 countries delivering media services to consumers via television and

the Internet. The MIH group’s activities are focused on subscriber platforms providing television and Internet services

to over two million paying subscribers in Africa, the Mediterranean and Asia. The MIH group has a majority interest in

Sportscn, which focused on sports related content and offered sports results and prediction services to subscribers

through various distribution channels. Sportscn is no longer active, so does not compete with our business.

The Group and MIH did not enter into a non-competition deed. Two of our Directors, Messrs Antonie Andries Roux and

Charles St Leger Searle, are also directors of certain MIH group companies.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of

the Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 16.92%

of the Group’s total revenues while the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 4.68% of the

Group’s total revenues. In addition, for the year ended 31 December 2007, the five largest suppliers of the Group

accounted for approximately 47.70% of the Group’s total purchases while the largest supplier of the Group accounted

for approximately 14.79% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors

owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued capital) had an interest in any of the major customers or suppliers noted

above.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which comprises two independent non-executive directors and one non-executive director of the

Company, has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed auditing,

internal control and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the directors of the Company is aware of any information which would

reasonably indicate that the Company has not, for any part of the year ended 31 December 2007, complied with the

code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

As to the deviation from code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the Board will continue to

review the current structure from time to time and shall make necessary changes when appropriate and inform the

shareholders accordingly.

ADOPTION OF CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting

than the required standard set out in Appendix 10 – Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Companies under the Listing Rules. The Directors have complied with such code of conduct throughout the accounting

year covered by this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman

Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had 4,344 employees (2006: 3,017), including about 500 employees from a new

subsidiary acquired in November 2007, most of whom are based in the Company’s head office in Shenzhen, the PRC.

The number of workers employed by the Group varies from time to time depending on needs and they are remunerated

based on industry practice.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are periodically reviewed. Apart from pension funds

and in-house training programmes, discretionary bonuses and share options may be awarded to employees according

to the assessment of individual performance.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 was RMB731.5 million

(2006: RMB585.6 million).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its directors, the directors

confirm that the Company has maintained during the year the amount of public float as required under the Listing

Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from Thursday, 8 May 2008 to Wednesday, 14 May 2008 both days inclusive,

during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the

forthcoming AGM and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant

share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor

Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration

not later than 4:30p.m. on Wednesday, 7 May 2008.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ma Huateng

Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 March 2008
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The Company applied the principles and complied with all requirements of the code provisions set out in Appendix 14

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)(the

“CG Code”) with the deviations in respect of the segregation of the role of the chairman and chief executive officer

(“CEO”) and the provision regarding the retirement and re-election of directors. The following summarizes the

Company’s corporate governance practices and explains the deviations from the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

• The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). All

Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, full compliance with the Model Code

throughout the year 2007.

• The Company has a model code for securities transactions by the staff. The code is in no less exacting terms

than the Model Code.

• Relevant employees who may possess price sensitive information of the Company are required to file notices of

intention to deal in the securities of the Company with the Chairman and they should get the acknowledgement of

their intention from the Company before they deal in the securities of the Company.

• Details of securities interests in the Company held by the Directors are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 32

of this annual report.

Deviation: Nil

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

A balanced board consisting of independent non-executive directors of at least one-third of the board

• The Board of the Company consists of three Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors (“NEDs”) and three

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). A list of all Directors is set out in the Corporate Information

section on page 2 of this annual report. All the directors are explicitly identified in all corporate communications.

Deviation: Nil

The board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of

the Company

• In relation to the Internet market in which the Company operates, the wide range of business, financial and

management experience of the Board provides an appropriate balance of skills and experiences.

• A list of Directors and their respective biographies are set out on pages 29 to 31 of the Directors’ Report. The

information is also published on the Company’s corporate website www.tencent.com (the “Company’s corporate

website”).

Deviation: Nil
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The board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively

responsible for promoting the success of the Company

• The Board of the Company has the following primary responsibilities:

– determines the Group’s mission, provides strategic direction to the Group and is responsible for the

approval of strategic plans;

– approves the annual business plan and budget proposed by management;

– retains full and effective control over the Group and monitors management with regard to the

implementation of the approved annual budget and business plan;

– establishes board sub-committees with clear terms of reference and responsibilities as appropriate; and

– defines levels of delegation in respect of specific matters, with required authority to board sub-committees

and management.

• The Board is supported by several committees. The Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee have

defined terms of reference covering their duties, powers and functions. The chairmen of the respective

committees report regularly to the Board and, as appropriate, make recommendations on matters discussed. The

Board and its committees are supplied with full and timely information which enables them to discharge their

responsibilities.

Deviation: Nil

Nomination of directors

• The Board determines director selection, orientation and evaluation.

• The Board identifies and evaluates candidates for appointment as directors. Following the appointment of new

directors to the board, an orientation programme will be arranged to facilitate their understanding of the Group.

• There is no nomination committee established. The Board will review the structure from time to time and will, if

necessary, establish a nomination committee at the appropriate time.

Deviation: Nil
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The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the board and those

delegated to management. There should be a clear division of responsibilities amongst committees and each

of them should have specific terms of reference

• The Board is responsible for determining the overall strategy and approving the annual business plan of the

Group, and ensuring the business operations are properly planned, authorized, undertaken and monitored. All

policy matters of the Group, material transactions or transactions where there is conflict of interests are reserved

for the Board’s decisions.

• The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the management team which includes the Chief

Officers, President and the Executive Vice-Presidents. In addition, new members are recruited to the

management team for strengthening the daily operation and meeting the future challenges.

• The management team meets fortnightly and is responsible for the formulation of policies for consideration of the

Board, and in carrying out and implementing the policies laid down by the Board. The management team is

delegated with the authority from the Board to administer, enforce, interpret and supervise compliance with those

parts of the internal rules and operational procedures of its subsidiaries, other than the Listing Rules, and

conduct regular reviews of the same, recommend, and advise on appropriate amendments which do not involve

policy matters for the approval by the boards of the respective subsidiaries. The management team reports to the

Board on a regular basis and communicates with the Board whenever required.

Deviation: Nil

Non-executive directors should be appointed for specific terms and all directors appointed to fill casual

vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment

• All the NEDs and the INEDs are appointed with specific terms for a term of one year, subject to the retirement

and re-election provisions of the Articles of Association.

• According to the Articles of Association, Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the

next following AGM, and shall be eligible for re-appointment.

• According to the Articles of Association, with effect from 24 March 2007, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors

shall retire from office by rotation, provided that the Chairman of the Board of the Company shall not, whilst

holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in determining the number of

Directors to retire in each year.

Deviation: Yes with the following considered reasons:

The Chairman of the Board is one of the core founders of the Company and plays a leading role in the growth and

development of the Company and his continuing presence adds positive value and assurance to the sustainable

development of the Company. The Board considered that the existing provision of retirement and re-election in the

Articles of Association shall not have a material impact on the operation of the Company as a whole. Notwithstanding

the above, the Board will review the current provision in the Articles of Association from time to time and shall make

necessary amendments at the appropriate time.
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The board should meet regularly to discharge its duties. Sufficient information is provided to the board and

its committees in a timely manner

• The Board meets regularly, normally once a quarter, and additional meetings will be arranged, if and when

required. Regular Board/committee meeting schedules of each year are made available to all Directors/committee

members before the commencement of the year. Directors can attend meetings in person or through other

means of electronic communication.

• The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in establishing the meeting agenda, and each Director may

comment to the draft agenda and/or request inclusion of items in the agenda.

• The information packages that contain analysis and background material, will be circulated normally three days

in advance of Board/committee meetings to Directors/committee members.

• There exists open atmosphere for Directors to contribute alternative views at meetings and major decisions will

only be taken after a full discussion at Board meetings.

• The Chief Administration Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are usually invited to attend Board meetings.

Other executives will be invited to Board meetings from time to time for making presentations or answering

Board’s enquiries.

• Minutes of Board/committee meetings are recorded and draft minutes are circulated to all Directors/committee

members for comments before being approved by the Board/committees at the next meeting.

• Matters on transactions where Directors are considered having conflict of interests or material interests will not be

dealt with by way of written resolutions. The Directors concerned could express views but will not be counted in

quorum of meeting and shall abstain from voting of the relevant resolution. According to the Articles of

Association, an interest of 5% or more is considered material.

• All Directors have access to Chief Legal Counsel/Company Secretary who are responsible for ensuring that the

Board procedures are complied with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.

• Minutes of the Board/committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by

Directors.

• The attendance records of all Board meetings held in 2007 are set out below:

Number of meetings: 5

Executive Directors

Ma Huateng (Chairman) 5/5

Lau Chi Ping Martin 5/5

Zhang Zhidong 5/5

Non-Executive Directors

Antonie Andries Roux 4/5

Charles St Leger Searle 5/5

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Li Dong Sheng 2/5

Iain Ferguson Bruce 5/5

Ian Charles Stone 4/5

Deviation: Nil
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Every director is required to keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,

business activities and development of the Company

• Management provides appropriate and sufficient information to Directors and the committee members in a timely

manner to keep them updated of the latest developments of the Group and enable them to discharge their

responsibilities.

• All Directors had attended training sessions in relation to the responsibilities as a director. All Directors are

updated of any relevant change/update in any laws/regulations concerned. All directors are reminded of making

disclosure of their interests, potential conflict of interests, and changes in personal particulars to the Company in

a timely manner from time to time.

• Meetings had been organized for providing induction to new Directors to help them familiarize with the Company

management, business, and governance practices.

• The Company also encourages its Directors to participate in continuous professional development seminars and

courses organized by qualified institutions to ensure that they continually update their skills and have the

knowledge on the latest development or changes in statutes, the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices

etc. that are required for discharging their responsibilities.

• The Board and the committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties including, inter

alia, the retention of external advisers at the Company’s expense, as they deem necessary.

The Company should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors

• A directors and officers’ liabilities insurance is in place.

Distinctive roles of chairman and chief executive officer

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of the chairman and CEO should be separate and should not be performed

by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and CEO should be clearly established

and set out in writing.

Deviation: Yes with the following considered reasons:

• During the year under review, Mr Ma Huateng was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The Board considered that an abrupt segregation of the role of the chairman and CEO would involve a sharing of

power and authority of the existing structure which might create turmoil on the daily operations of, and extra cost

to, the Company. In addition, the chairman and CEO must be proficient in IT knowledge and be sensitive to the

fast and myriad changes in the business in order to lead the Company to react swiftly to any market change,

make timely decisions in this fast-moving IT industry and ensure the sustainable development of the Company.

Notwithstanding the above, the Board will review the current structure from time to time and shall make

necessary amendments at the appropriate time.

• The President of the Company, who has become an Executive Director with effect from 21 March 2007, assists

the CEO to manage the day-to-day operations of the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy on executive directors’ remuneration

and for fixing the remuneration packages for all directors

• The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, comprising two INEDs and one NED appointed by the

Board. The members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr Antonie Andries Roux (Chairman) and Messrs Li

Dong Sheng and Ian Charles Stone.

• The principal responsibilities of and work done by the Remuneration Committee include formulation of the

remuneration policy, review and recommending to the Board the annual remuneration policy, and determination

of the remuneration of the Board and the chief officers of the Company. The objective of the remuneration policy

is to ensure that the Company is able to attract, retain, and motivate a high-caliber team which is essential to the

success of the Company.

• No Director can determine his own remuneration.

• The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee reports findings and recommendations to the Board at least once

annually.

• The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the Company’s corporate website.

• Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2007 are set out in Note 33 to the

consolidated financial statements.

• The Remuneration Committee benchmarked the remuneration packages of the Directors and the management

team to similar positions of comparable companies in the industry when considering the remuneration packages.

• Although there was no meeting of the Remuneration Committee held during the year, the Remuneration

Committee resolved matters in the form of resolutions in writing by all members. All relevant information had

been circulated to all the members of the Remuneration Committee for review and consideration on a timely

basis from time to time. In February 2008, a Remuneration Committee meeting had been held.

• During the year, the Remuneration Committee resolved the following major resolutions:

– Approved the remuneration packages to be paid to the Directors and the management team;

– Approved the grant of options; and

– Approved the employment contracts of the core founders.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The board should present a balanced, clear, and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance,

position, and prospects

• The Board’s responsibility for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment extends to interim

and annual reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures required under the

Listing Rules as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

• The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant

doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue on a going concern basis.

• The Company has appointed external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, to perform reviews and an audit of its

interim and annual financial statements respectively in accordance with the requirements laid down in

International Standards on Auditing.

• Management provides explanations and information to the Board which will enable the Board to make an

informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the Board for approval.

• The Board, with the recommendation of the Audit Committee, approves the Company’s financial statements,

interim and annual reports.

• The Company publishes its financial results on a quarterly basis to enhance transparency about its performance

and latest developments of the Group in a timely manner.

• During the year, the Company announced its annual and interim results within three months and two months

respectively after the end of the relevant periods.

Deviation: Nil

The board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the

shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets

• The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the Group’s internal control system.

• The Company has various approval matrices, which are applicable to different managerial levels, which aim to:

– help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized use or disposition;

– ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for

internal use or for publication; and

– ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.
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• The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective internal controls are as follows:

– A distinct organizational structure exists with defined lines of authority and control responsibilities. Relevant

Division/Department Heads are involved in preparing the strategic plan which lays down the corporate

strategies to be pursued in the following year for achieving the annual operational and financial targets.

Both the strategic plan and the annual operating plan lay down the foundation for the preparation of the

annual budget by which resources are allocated in accordance with identified and prioritized business

opportunities. The annual operating plan and the annual budget are approved by the Board on an annual

basis.

– Variances against budgets are analyzed, and explained, and appropriate actions are taken, if necessary, to

rectify deficiencies noted.

– Internal Audit Department (“IA”) performs independent reviews of the operational areas identified by

management and presents the findings and the prospective audit plan to the Audit Committee on a

quarterly basis.

• Reviews of different business and functional operations and activities will be conducted by IA with audit

resources being focused on higher risk areas. Ad hoc reviews will also be conducted by IA on areas of concern

identified by management.

• Division/Department Heads will be notified of the deficiencies noted for rectification, and IA will follow up with the

implementation of audit recommendations. Significant internal control weaknesses are brought to the attention of

the Audit Committee and if necessary to the Board, and to management for remedial action.

• In 2006, the Company had engaged an international accounting firm to perform high level internal control review

of the Group, which covered all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and

risk management functions. Recommendations with prioritization had been proposed and the remedial plan

design for internal control improvement were addressed by management. Based on the internal control review

report of the international accounting firm issued in March 2007 and the prevailing system and information, no

material discrepancies have been found.

• Based on the aforesaid internal control review report, the quarterly updates from IA and the meetings with

management, the Board, with the recommendation of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the Group has

complied with the provisions regarding the internal controls as required under the CG Code.

Deviation: Nil
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The board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it applies the financial

reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’s

auditors

• The Audit Committee, comprising two INEDs and one NED, appointed by the Board who have extensive

experience in financial matters, meets at least four times a year. The members are Mr Iain Ferguson Bruce

(Chairman) and Messrs Ian Charles Stone and Charles St Leger Searle. Mr Bruce is a member of the Institute of

Chartered Accountants of Scotland and is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and

Mr Searle is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. None of the Audit Committee

members are members of the former or existing auditors of the Company.

• Senior representatives of the external auditors and managements are invited to attend the meetings when

necessary.

• In 2007, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors for non-audit related activities amounted to

approximately USD86,000.

• The Committee reports its work, findings and recommendations to the Board after each meeting. The terms of

reference of the Audit Committee are posted on the Company’s corporate website.

• The principal responsibilities of and work done by the Audit Committee in 2007 include:

– To serve as a focal point for communication between other Directors, the external auditors and internal

auditors in respect of the duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external and

internal audits, and such other matters as the Board determines from time to time.

– To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing an independent review and supervision of

financial reporting.

– To review the scope and results of internal audit procedures, ensure coordination between the internal and

external auditors and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate

standing within the Group.

– To review the appointment of external auditors on an annual basis including a review of the audit scope and

approval of the audit fees.

– To review the annual and interim financial statements prior to their approval by the Board, and recommend

application of accounting policies and changes to financial reporting requirements.

– To ensure continuing auditor objectivity and to safeguard independence of the external auditors. The

Committee has granted authorization of non-audit services for which the external auditors may provide.

• The attendance of individual members at Audit Committee meetings held in 2007 is set out below:

Number of meetings 5

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Iain Ferguson Bruce (Chairman) 5/5

Ian Charles Stone 4/5

Non-Executive Director

Charles St Leger Searle 5/5

Deviation: Nil
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The board should endeavor to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, in particular, use annual

general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage their participation

• The Company establishes and maintains different communication channels with its shareholders through the

publication of annual and interim results announcements and press releases.

• The AGM provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Chairman of the

Company and management are available at the AGM to answer shareholders’ questions.

• Separate resolutions are proposed at AGM on each separate issue, including the election of individual Directors.

• Details of the poll voting procedures and the rights of shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular

to shareholders and has been despatched to the shareholders timely. The circular also includes details of the

procedures and the timetable of proposing appropriate candidates to stand for election as Directors at annual

general meetings, and relevant details of proposed resolutions, including biographies of each candidates standing

for re-election and whether such candidates are considered to be independent.

• At the commencement of each AGM, detailed procedures for demanding and conducting a poll by shareholders

had been explained.

• Questions from shareholders in each AGM were answered.

• The results of the poll are published in the newspapers and on the Company’s corporate website.

• Financial and all shareholder communications of the Company are made available on the Company’s corporate

website, which is updated on a regular basis.

Deviation: Nil

On behalf of the Board

Ma Huateng

Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 March 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TENCENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tencent Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 144, which comprise the consolidated and company

balance sheets as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of

changes in shareholders’ equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these

consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting

policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We

conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply

with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial

statements are free from material misstatement.
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11 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(a) Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Place and date of Particulars

establishment and of issued/ Percentage of equity interest

Name nature of legal entity paid-in capital attributable to the Company Principal activities

2007 2006

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Tencent Cyber Established on 8 USD30,000,000 – 100% – 100% Provision of technical and

(Tianjin) Company February 2004 in the management consultancy services

Limited (“Cyber PRC, wholly foreign

Tianjin”) (formerly owned enterprise

known as Shidai

Zhaoyang Technology

(Shenzhen) Company

Limited)

Tencent Asset Established on 7 USD100 100% – 100% – Assets management

Management July 2004 in BVI,

Limited private limited

liability company

Tencent Technology Established on 30 USD1,000,000 – 100% – 100% Development of computer software

(Beijing) Company March 2005 in the and provision of Internet

Limited (“Tencent PRC, wholly foreign information services

Beijing”) owned enterprise

High Morale Established on 13 HKD2 100% – 100% – Provision of VOIP services

Developments October 2005 in

Limited Hong Kong, private

limited liability

company

Beijing Emark Established on 8 RMB19,000,000 – 100% – 100% Provision of mobile and

January 2003 in the (Note ii) (Note ii) telecommunications

PRC, private limited value-added services

liability company

Shenzhen Tenpay Established on 25 RMB100,000,000 – 100% – 100% Provision of e-Commerce , electronic

Technology Limited August 2006 in the (Note iii) (Note iii) payment and settlement services

(“Tenpay PRC, private limited

Technology”) liability company
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11 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(a) Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Place and date of Particulars

establishment and of issued/ Percentage of equity interest

Name nature of legal entity paid-in capital attributable to the Company Principal activities

2007 2006

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Nanjing Wang Established on 5 RMB10,290,000 – 100% – 100% Provision of mobile and

Dian Technology January 2000 in the (Note ii) (Note ii) telecommunications

Company Limited PRC, private limited value-added services

(“Wang Dian”) liability company

Beijing BIZCOM Established on 11 RMB16,500,000 – 100% – – Provision of mobile and

Technology June 2002 in the PRC, (Note ii) telecommunications

Company Limited private limited value-added  services

(“Beijing BIZCOM”) liability company

Beijing Starsinhand Established on 13 RMB10,000,000 – 100% – – Provision of mobile and

Technology July 2005 in the PRC, (Note ii) telecommunications

Company Limited private limited value-added services

(“Beijing liability company

Starsinhand”)

Beijing Yonghang Established on 21 RMB15,000,000 – 63.9% – – Development of games

Technology January 2005 in the (Note iii)

Company Limited PRC, private limited

(“Beijing liability company

Yonghang”)

Shenzhen Domain Established on 28 April RMB10,000,000 – 60% – – Development and provision of

1997 in the PRC, (Note iii) online games

private limited

liability company

Shenzhen Established on 23 RMB10,000,000 – 100% – – Design of computer  software &

Shiji Tian You November 2007 (Note ii) hardware

Technology in the PRC, private

Company Limited limited liability company

Tencent Cyber Established on 17 USD30,000,000 – 100% – – Provision of technical and

(Shenzhen) January 2007 in the management consultancy services

Company PRC, private limited

Limited liability company
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11 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(a) Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Note i: The amount represents share-based compensation expenses arising from grant of share options of the

Company to employees of subsidiaries in exchange for their services offered to the subsidiaries.

Note ii: As described in Note 1 and Note 42, the Company lacks equity ownership in these subsidiaries. Nevertheless,

under certain contractual agreements enacted among the registered owners of these subsidiaries, the Company

and its other subsidiaries, the Company controls these companies by way of controlling more than one half of

the voting rights of them, governing their financial and operating policies and appointing or removing the

majority of the members of their controlling authorities, and casting the majority of votes at meetings of such

authorities. In addition, such contractual agreements also transfer the risks and rewards of these companies to

the Company. As a result, they are presented as consolidating subsidiaries of the Company.

Note iii: These companies are directly owned by Tencent Computer or Shiji Kaixuan, on which the Company has indirect

beneficial interests through contractual agreements (see Note (ii) above).

Note iv: The amounts due from subsidiaries mainly represent advances made for investments in Cyber Tianjin, Tencent

Beijing and the Foxmail Acquisition (defined in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2005). All these balances are unsecured and interest free and their settlements are neither planned

nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. The directors consider that it is appropriate to treat the balances as

quasi equities in these companies and record them as non-current assets of the Company.

(b) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries represented current account balances within the Group. All

balances are unsecured and interest free and are expected to be repayable within one year.
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12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group:

Financial

assets at fair Available-

value through for-sale Held-to-

Loans and profit financial maturity

receivables and loss assets investments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets

At 31 December 2007

Available-for-sale financial assets

(Note 14) – – 63,605 – 63,605

Derivative financial

instruments (Note 18) – 47,759 – – 47,759

Accounts receivable (Note 15) 535,528 – – – 535,528

Deposits and other receivables 75,459 – – – 75,459

Held-to-maturity investments (Note 13) – – – 73,046 73,046

Financial assets held

for trading (Note 17) – 266,495 – – 266,495

Term deposits with initial term

of over three months (Note 19) 604,486 – – – 604,486

Restricted cash (Note 19) 300,000 – – – 300,000

Cash and cash equivalents(Note 20) 2,948,757 – – – 2,948,757

Total 4,464,230 314,254 63,605 73,046 4,915,135

At 31 December 2006

Available-for-sale financial assets – – 56,440 – 56,440

Accounts receivable 399,337 – – – 399,337

Deposits and other receivables 92,367 – – – 92,367

Held-to-maturity investments – – – 234,261 234,261

Financial assets held for trading – 195,907 – – 195,907

Term deposits with initial term

of over three months 944,375 – – – 944,375

Cash and cash equivalents 1,844,320 – – – 1,844,320

Total 3,280,399 195,907 56,440 234,261 3,767,007
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12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont’d)

Financial

liabilities at fair

value through

profit Other financial

and loss liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Liabilities

At 31 December 2007

Borrowing (Note 26) – 292,184 292,184

Derivative financial instruments(Note 18) 30,060 – 30,060

Total 30,060 292,184 322,244

The Company:

Financial

assets at fair Available-

value through for-sale Held-to-

Loans and profit financial maturity

receivables and loss assets investments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets

At 31 December 2007

Deposits and other receivables 3,418 – – – 3,418

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) 109,449 – – – 109,449

Total 112,867 – – – 112,867

At 31 December 2006

Deposits and other receivables 1,889 – – – 1,889

Term deposits with initial term

of over three months 15,618 – – – 15,618

Cash and cash equivalents 67,394 – – – 67,394

Total 84,901 – – – 84,901
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13 HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2007, the held-to-maturity investments represented a USD Constant Maturity Treasury Linked

Bond (“CMT Linked Bond”) with a principal amount of USD10,000,000. The return on CMT Linked Bond is at

variable annual coupon rates over a period of two years maturing in 2009.

There was no impairment provision made against the held-to-maturity investments as at 31 December 2007. The

fair value of held-to-maturity financial assets approximated its carrying amounts as at 31 December 2007.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of held-to-maturity financial

assets.

In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2007, three notes with a total principal amount of approximately

USD30,000,000 matured and the related principals and interest have been received by the Group.

14 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 56,440 36,073

Additions 60,857 20,367

Reduction (Note (a)) (29,850) –

Impairment charge (Note (b)) (23,842) –

End of the year 63,605 56,440

Non-current portion 63,605 56,440

Included equity interests in:

Shenzhen Domain (Note (a)) – 29,850

16.9% equity interest in a game company (Note (b)) – 23,842

15% equity interest in a game company (Note (c)) 38,650 –

5.25% equity interest in a game company (Note (c)) 18,673 –

Others (Note (c)) 6,282 2,748

63,605 56,440



Tencent Holdings Limited    Annual Report 2007 107

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

14 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the following currencies:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 38,650 29,850

USD 24,955 26,590

63,605 56,440

Note:

(a) The amount as at 31 December 2006 represented 19.9% of the equity interest in Shenzhen Domain, a limited liability

company incorporated in the PRC. During the year, the Group acquired an additional 40.1% equity interest in Shenzhen

Domain, and as a result, Shenzhen Domain has become a subsidiary of the Company (See Note 42(b) for details).

(b) The amount as at 31 December 2006 represented 16.9% equity interest in a game company with limited liability. During

the year, the Group provided a full impairment charge for this investment based on its latest financial position and

operating results.

(c) In October and November 2007, the Group purchased 15% and 5.25% equity interest in two game companies

respectively. Management considered that there were no material changes in their fair value from the purchase date to

31 December 2007. In addition, Management also considered the fair value changes in other available-for-sale financial

assets were not material to the Group for the year 2007.

15 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 - 30 days 266,553 180,304

31 days - 60 days 103,600 81,462

61 days - 90 days 51,362 38,450

Over 90 days but less than a year 114,013 99,121

535,528 399,337

All accounts receivable are denominated in RMB.
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15 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Cont’d)

The Group has no formal credit periods communicated to its major customers but the customers usually settle

the amounts due to it within a period of 30 to 90 days. A substantial balance of the receivable balances as at 31

December 2007 and 31 December 2006 were due from China Mobile, China Unicom and China

Telecommunications Corporation (which are the major telecommunication companies in the PRC) and their

respective branches, subsidiaries and affiliates. There was no recent history of default of the receivable balance

from these three companies and their respective branches, subsidiaries and affiliates.

The directors consider that the carrying value of the receivable balance approximates its fair value as at 31

December 2007.

The accounts receivable does not contain impaired assets as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

16 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepaid expenses 31,317 17,301

Advances to suppliers 23,630 4,100

Rental deposits and other deposits 22,757 32,131

Staff advances 18,907 3,034

Refundable value added tax (“VAT”) (Note) 9,800 28,000

Others 23,995 29,202

130,406 113,768

Note: According to a notice of the relevant government authority in the PRC, Caishui 2000 No. 25, the portion of VAT paid in

excess of 3% of the consideration of the software products developed and sold by an ordinary VAT payer would be

immediately refunded by the tax bureau (“Tax Rebate”). During the year, certain intra-group software sales had been

transacted within the Group, and this resulted in Tax Rebate of approximately RMB20,300,000 (2006:

RMB37,800,000). The amounts as at 31 December 2007 represented the amounts yet to be refunded by the local tax

authority.

All prepayments, deposits and other receivables are denominated in RMB.

The prepayments, deposits and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Investment portfolio 53,931 156,645

Principal protected notes 212,564 –

Floating rate debt instruments – 39,262

266,495 195,907

Note: The fair values of the respective underlying financial instruments in the portfolio and the principal protected notes as at

31 December 2007 were determined with reference to the respective published price quotations in an active market.

Changes in fair values of financial assets held for trading are recorded in “Other gains, net” in the income

statement. Movements in financial assets held for trading have been presented as changes in operating activities

in the consolidated cash flow statement of the Group (Note 39).

All financial assets held for trading are denominated in USD.

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2007 2006

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Foreign exchange forward

contracts - held for trading 47,759 (30,060) – –

During 2007, the Group entered foreign exchange forward contracts with banks in the PRC and outside the PRC.

The foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2007 can be grouped into two

categories: (i) selling USD130,000,000 for RMB; and (ii) buying USD130,000,000 with RMB. These forward

contracts will mature within one year and each of them is settled at the difference between the forward rate

stated in the contract and the spot rate at the maturity day, multiplied by the notional amount of the contract.

The Group entered these forward contracts on the known position that, despite the gain or loss arising from

possible foreign exchange fluctuations in each individual contract, a fixed gain will be locked.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the derivative assets in the

consolidated balance sheet.
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19 TERM DEPOSITS WITH INITIAL TERM OF OVER THREE MONTHS AND RESTRICTED CASH

The effective interest rates of the term deposits of the Group and the Company with initial term of over three

months for the year ended 31 December 2007 were 2.72% (2006: 2.20%) and 5.21% (2006: 5.24%),

respectively.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s term deposits denominated in USD and HKD with initial term of over three

months are presented in Note 3.1(a). The term deposit balance of the Company denominated in USD as at 31

December 2007 was nil (2006: RMB15,618,000).

The restricted cash is a one-year term deposit pledged for the short-term bank borrowing (Note 26).

The directors consider that the carrying value of the term deposits with initial term of over three months and

restricted cash approximate their fair value as at 31 December 2007.

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at bank and in hand 1,893,812 1,239,663 57,857 59,490

Term deposits with initial

term within three months 1,054,945 604,657 51,592 7,904

2,948,757 1,844,320 109,449 67,394

Maximum exposure

to credit risk 2,947,880 1,843,116 109,120 66,970

The effective interest rates of the term deposits of the Group and the Company with initial term within three

months for the year ended 31 December 2007 were 4.63% (2006: 1.73%) and 4.16% (2006: 5.00%),

respectively.

Details of the balances maintained by the Group which were denominated in USD and HKD as at 31 December

2007 are presented in Note 3.1(a). Approximately RMB959,875,000 (2006: RMB1,132,110,000) of the total

balance was denominated in RMB and deposited with banks in the PRC. The balances maintained by the

Company denominated in USD and HKD were RMB21,697,000 (2006: RMB11,168,000) and RMB87,733,000

(2006: RMB56,226,000), respectively as at 31 December 2007. The Company had no material balance

denominated in RMB.
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21 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION RESERVE

Number of Issued Share-based

ordinary share Share compensation

shares capital premium reserve Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2006 1,769,244,068 192 1,666,044 40,109 1,706,345

Employees share option scheme:

- value of employee services – – – 77,969 77,969

- number of shares issued and

  proceeds received 17,564,700 2 34,052 – 34,054

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (18,357,000) (2) (241,076) – (241,078)

At 31 December 2006 / 1 January 2007 1,768,451,768 192 1,459,020 118,078 1,577,290

Employees share option scheme:

- value of employee services – – – 102,152 102,152

- number of shares issued and proceeds

  received 23,560,879 3 104,087 – 104,090

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (3,438,000) (1) (107,253) – (107,254)

At 31 December 2007 1,788,574,647 194 1,455,854 220,230 1,676,278

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 10,000,000,000 shares (2006: 10,000,000,000 shares) with

par value of HKD0.0001 per share (2006: HKD0.0001 per share).

As at 31 December 2007, all issued shares were fully paid.

Note: During the year of 2007, a total of 9,958,188 options under Pre-IPO Option Scheme were exercised at exercise prices

ranging from USD0.0497 to USD0.4396 (Note 23(a)(1)). In addition, a total of 13,602,691 options under Post-IPO

Option Scheme I were exercised at exercise prices ranging from HKD3.6650 to HKD18.1000 (Note 23(a)(1)).
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22 OTHER RESERVES

PRC statutory reserves

Statutory

Capital Revaluation surplus Reserve

reserve reserve reserve fund fund Total

(Note) (Note)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 MB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2006 20,000 – 38,342 8,267 66,609

Profit appropriations to statutory reserves – – 10,178 4,138 14,316

Balance at 31 December 2006 / 1 January 2007 20,000 – 48,520 12,405 80,925

Profit appropriations to statutory reserves – – 5,544 – 5,544

Business combinations (Note 42(b)) – 7,243 – – 7,243

Balance at 31 December 2007 20,000 7,243 54,064 12,405 93,712

Note:

In accordance with the Companies Laws of the PRC and the provisions of the articles of association of subsidiaries with limited

liabilities in the PRC, appropriation of net profits (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) should be made by these

companies to their respective Statutory Surplus Reserve Funds and the Discretionary Reserve Funds before distributions are

made to the owners. The percentage of appropriation to Statutory Surplus Reserve Fund is 10%. The amount to be transferred

to the Discretionary Reserve Fund is determined by the equity owners meetings of these companies. When the balance of the

Statutory Surplus Reserve Fund reaches 50% of the registered capital, such transfer needs not be made. Both the Statutory

Surplus Reserve Fund and Discretionary Reserves Fund can be capitalised as capital of an enterprise, provided that the

remaining Statutory Surplus Reserve Fund shall not be less than 25% of the registered capital.
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22 OTHER RESERVES (Cont’d)

In addition, in accordance with the Law of the PRC on Enterprises with Foreign Investments and the provisions of

the articles of association of wholly owned foreign subsidiaries in the PRC, appropriation from net profit (after

offsetting accumulated losses brought forward from prior years) should be made by these companies to their

respective Reserve Funds. The percentage of net profit to be appropriated to the Reserve Fund is not less than

10% of the net profit. When the balance of the Reserve Fund reaches 50% of the registered capital, such

transfer needs not be made.

With an approval obtained from their respective boards of directors of these companies, the Reserve Fund can be

used to offset accumulated deficit or to increase capital.

23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

(a) Share option schemes

The Company adopted share option schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to its

directors, executives or officers, employees, consultants and other eligible persons:

(i) Pre-IPO Share Option  Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Option Scheme”)

The Pre-IPO Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 27 July 2001. As at the listing of the

Company on 16 June 2004, all options under Pre-IPO Option Scheme had been granted.

(ii) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I (the “Post-IPO Option Scheme I”)

On 24 March 2004, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Option Scheme I. The board of directors (the

“Board”) may, at its discretion, invite any employee, consultant or director of any company in the

Group to take up options to subscribe for shares in the Company at a price determined by it pursuant

to the terms of the Post-IPO Option Scheme I. The Post-IPO Option Scheme I will remain in force for a

period of ten years, commencing on the adoption date. The maximum number of shares in respect of

which options may be granted under the Post-IPO Option Scheme I, and under any other share option

scheme of the Company (including the Pre-IPO Option Scheme), shall not exceed 10% of the relevant

class of securities of the Company in issue as at the date of the IPO.

The Post-IPO Option Scheme I has been terminated upon the adoption of the new share option

scheme mentioned below.
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23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(a) Share option schemes (Cont’d)

(iii) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme II (the “Post-IPO Option Scheme II”)

On 16 May 2007, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Option Scheme II. The Board may, at its

absolute discretion, grant options to any eligible person to subscribe for shares in the Company. The

Post-IPO Option Scheme II shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing after its

date of adoption.

The maximum number of the shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Post-IPO

Option Scheme II and any other share options schemes of the Company shall not exceed 5% of the

issued shares as at the date of shareholders’ approval of the Post-IPO Option Scheme II (the “Scheme

Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Option Scheme II shall

not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 5% limit. The Company may refresh the Scheme

Mandate Limit by ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting, provided that the

Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed 5% of the issued shares as at the date of

shareholders’ approval of the refreshing of the Scheme Mandate Limit. Options previously granted

under any existing schemes (including options outstanding, cancelled, or lapsed in accordance with

the relevant scheme rules or exercised options) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the

limit as refreshed. Options granted under the Post-IPO Option Scheme II will be expired in any event

not later than the last day of the seven-year period after the date of grant of options (subject to early

termination as set out in the Post-IPO Option Scheme II).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options

granted and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Option Scheme II and any other share options

schemes of the Company (including Pre-IPO Option Scheme and Post-IPO Option Scheme I) must not

in aggregate exceed 30% of issued shares from time to time.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued) in respect of which options may be granted

under the Post-IPO Option Scheme II and any other share options schemes of the Company (whether

exercised, cancelled or outstanding) to any eligible person in any 12-month period shall not exceed

1% of issued shares from time to time unless such grant has been duly approved by ordinary

resolution of the shareholders in general meeting at which the relevant eligible person and his

associates abstained from voting. In calculating the aforesaid limit of 1%, options that have lapsed

shall not be counted.
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23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(a) Share option schemes (Cont’d)

(1) Movements in share options

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise

prices are as follows:

Pre-IPO Option Scheme Post-IPO Option Scheme I Post-IPO Option Scheme II Total

Average No. of Average No. of Average No. of No. of

exercise price options exercise price options exercise price options options

At 1 January 2006 USD 0.0933 31,574,357 HKD 6.1627 51,293,646 – – 82,868,003

Granted – – HKD 13.5351 18,433,600 – – 18,433,600

Exercised USD 0.0799 (12,377,973 ) HKD 4.8948 (5,186,727) – – (17,564,700)

Lapsed USD 0.1967 (189,420 ) HKD 5.2645 (2,177,744) – – (2,367,164)

At 31 December 2006 USD 0.1010 19,006,964 HKD 8.4787 62,362,775 – – 81,369,739

At 1 January 2007 USD 0.1010 19,006,964 HKD8.4787 62,362,775 – – 81,369,739

Granted – – HKD 25.2600 3,110,000 HKD 32.4634 17,518,146 20,628,146

Exercised USD 0.0955 (9,958,188 ) HKD 7.2811 (13,602,691) – – (23,560,879)

Lapsed USD 0.1965 (299,914 ) HKD 9.3727 (1,674,002) HKD 31.7500 (82,470 ) (2,056,386)

At 31 December 2007 USD 0.1039 8,748,862 HKD 9.8131 50,196,082 HKD 32.4668 17,435,676 76,380,620

During the year ended 31 December 2007, 6,000,000 (2006: Nil) options were granted to an

executive director of the Company, who was appointed on 21 March 2007, and a total of 300,000

(2006: Nil) options were granted to the independent directors of the Company.

Of 76,380,620 options outstanding as at 31 December 2007 (2006: 81,369,739 options), 16,944,746

options (2006: 21,697,357 options) were currently exercisable.

Options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2007 resulted in 23,560,879 ordinary shares

issued (Note 21). The weighted average price of the shares at the time these options were exercised

was HKD35.88 (equivalent to approximately RMB33.60) per share.
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23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(a) Share option schemes (Cont’d)

(2) Outstanding share options

Details of the expiry dates, exercise prices and the respective numbers of share options which

remained outstanding as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Number of options

Expiry Date Range of exercise price 2007 2006

31 December 2011 USD0.0497 6,396,400 13,734,725

(Pre-IPO Option Scheme) USD0.1967-USD0.4396 2,352,462 5,272,239

8,748,862 19,006,964

10 years commencing

from the adoption

date of 24 March 2004 HKD3.6650-HKD8.3500 31,960,622 43,976,135

(Post-IPO Option Scheme I) HKD11.5500-HKD25.2600 18,235,460 18,386,640

50,196,082 62,362,775

7 years commencing from

date of grant of options

(Post-IPO Option Scheme II) HKD31.7500-HKD49.8500 17,435,676 –

76,380,620 81,369,739
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23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(a) Share option schemes (Cont’d)

(3) Fair values of options

The fair values of the options granted, determined using the BS Model, during the period from 1

January 2006 to 31 December 2007 are as follows:

No. of Closing share Risk free Dividend Expected

Fair value options Exercise price at date rate yield volatility

Date of grant of options granted price of grant (Note (i)) (Note (ii)) (Note (iii)) Exercisable date

23/3/2006 HKD51,697,000 10,950,000 HKD HKD 4.40% 1.4% 57% Based on option

11.55 11.55 grant date (Note (iv))

17/7/2006 HKD27,083,000 4,073,600 HKD HKD 4.72% 1.16% 58% Based on option

15.05 15.05 grant date (Note (iv))

13/10/2006 HKD4,121,000 600,000 HKD HKD 3.94% 1.16% 49% Based on option

18.10 18.10 grant date (Note (iv))

13/10/2006 HKD20,260,000 2,810,000 HKD HKD 3.94% 1.16% 49% Based on option

18.10 18.10 grant date (Note (v))

4/4/2007 HKD23,873,000 2,510,000 HKD HKD 3.99% 1.03% 48% Based on option

25.26 25.25 grant date (Note (v))

4/4/2007 HKD6,048,000 600,000 HKD HKD 3.99% 1.03% 48% Based on the

25.26 25.25 commencement

date of employment

(Note (vi))

17/5/2007 HKD43,127,000 3,593,400 HKD HKD 4.09% 1.03% 48% Based on option

31.75 31.75 grant date (Note (v))

17/5/2007 HKD48,282,000 3,611,240 HKD HKD 4.09% 1.03% 48% Based on option

31.75 31.75 grant date (Note (vii))

17/5/2007 HKD33,030,000 2,300,000 HKD HKD 4.09% 1.03% 48% Based on option

31.75 31.75 grant date (Note (viii))

28/5/2007 HKD622,000 50,000 HKD HKD 4.40% 1.03% 48% Based on option

32.63 32.60 grant date (Note (v))

15/6/2007 HKD5,807,000 475,000 HKD HKD 4.74% 1.03% 48% Based on option

32.14 31.90 grant date (Note (v))

15/6/2007 HKD8,966,000 657,000 HKD HKD 4.74% 1.03% 48% Based on option

32.14 31.90 grant date (Note (vii))
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23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(a) Share option schemes (Cont’d)

(3) Fair values of options (Cont’d)

No. of Closing share Risk free Dividend Expected

Fair value options Exercise price at date rate yield volatility

Date of grant of options granted price of grant (Note (i)) (Note (ii)) (Note (iii)) Exercisable date

5/7/2007 HKD37,690,000 2,700,000 HKD HKD 4.66% 1.03% 47% Based on option

33.05 33.05 grant date (Note (vii))

5/7/2007 HKD49,529,000 3,300,000 HKD HKD 4.66% 1.03% 47% Based on option

33.05 33.05 grant date (Note (viii))

17/8/2007 HKD5,796,000 561,800 HKD HKD 4.30% 1.03% 47% Based on option

33.74 30.30 grant date (Note (v))

17/8/2007 HKD1,128,000 96,400 HKD HKD 4.30% 1.03% 47% Based on option

33.74 30.30 grant date (Note (vii))

25/9/2007 HKD741,000 42,990 HKD HKD 4.16% 1.03% 48% Based on option

45.50 45.50 grant date (Note (v))

25/9/2007 HKD211,000 10,990 HKD HKD 4.16% 1.03% 48% Based on option

45.50 45.50 grant date (Note (vii))

27/11/2007 HKD1,637,000 90,755 HKD HKD 2.92% 1.03% 49% Based on option

49.85 49.20 grant date (Note (v))

27/11/2007 HKD574,000 28,571 HKD HKD 2.92% 1.03% 49% Based on option

49.85 49.20 grant date (Note (vii))
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23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(a) Share option schemes (Cont’d)

(3) Fair values of options (Cont’d)

Note:

(i) The risk free rate was determined based on the yield to maturity of Hong Kong Government Bonds with

maturity in December 2011, June 2012, May 2013, August 2013 or November 2013 as at the date of

valuation.

(ii) Dividend yield is estimated based on the Company’s historical dividend yield.

(iii) Volatility, measured as the standard deviation of expected share price returns, is determined based on the

average daily trading price volatility of the shares of the Company and comparable companies since their

IPO to the valuation date.

(iv) For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of the options, the first 25% of

the option can be exercised one year after the grant date, and then each 25% of the total options will

become exercisable in each subsequent year.

(v) For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of the options, the first 20% of

the option can be exercised one year after the grant date, and then each 20% of the total options will

become exercisable in each subsequent year.

(vi) For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the commencement date of the employment,

the first 20% of the option can be exercised two years after the commencement date of employment, and

then each 20% of the total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year.

(vii) For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of the options, the first 20% of

the option can be exercised two years after the grant date, and then each 20% of the total options will

become exercisable in each subsequent year.

(viii) For options granted with exercisable date determined based on the grant date of the options, the first 20% of

the option can be exercised three years after the grant date, and then each 20% of the total options will

become exercisable in each subsequent year, except the last 20% of the total options which will become

exercisable in the eleventh month after the fourth 20% of the total options become exercisable.



Tencent Holdings Limited    Annual Report 2007120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

23 SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(b) Share award scheme

On 13 December 2007 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company adopted a share award scheme (“Share

Scheme”). The Board may, at its absolute discretion, select any eligible persons (“Awarded Persons”) for

participation in the Share Scheme.

Pursuant to the Share Scheme, ordinary shares of the Company will be acquired by an independent trustee

(the “Trustee”) at the cost of the Company or shares will be allotted to the Trustee under general mandates

granted or to be granted by shareholders of the Company at general meetings from time to time and be held

in trust for the Awarded Persons until the end of each vesting period. Vested shares will be transferred at no

cost to the Awarded Persons.

Unless early termination by the Board, the Share Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years

commencing on the Adoption Date.

The number of shares to be awarded under the Share Scheme throughout its duration shall not exceed 2%

of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date. The maximum number of shares which

may be awarded to an Awarded Person under the Share Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share

capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, no shares under the Share Scheme were granted.

24 ACCOUNTS PAYABLES

Accounts payable and their ageing analysis are as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 - 30 days 63,811 24,254

31 days - 60 days 11,964 2,894

61 days - 90 days 14,495 2,638

Over 90 days but less than a year 26,792 9,148

117,062 38,934
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25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current portion of present value of Earn-out

Considerations payable for the Joymax Acquisition (Note 4.2(b)) – 39,951

Staff costs and welfare accruals 233,466 201,204

Marketing and administrative expense accruals 123,374 85,791

Payables for licenses 146,092 –

Prepayments received from customers 25,117 44,985

Deposits from customer-to-customer business 61,210 30,035

Professional fees accruals 10,516 11,105

Others 69,419 31,316

669,194 444,387

26 BORROWING

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term bank borrowing 292,184 –

The principal amount of the bank borrowing is USD40,000,000 and the interest rate is 6.1013% per annum. The

bank borrowing will mature in October 2008 and be repaid with USD, which will be purchased with RMB at a

fixed exchange rate through a foreign exchange forward contract with the same bank. The bank borrowing

denominated in USD and foreign exchange forward contract will be deemed as a linked transaction and

accordingly, the bank borrowing was treated as a bank borrowing denominated in RMB.

In addition, the bank borrowing is secured by pledge of restricted cash (Note 19).

The Group borrowed the bank loan and made the forward contract on the known position that, despite of the

interest expenses to be incurred, it will benefit from the net fixed exchange gains and the related interest income

from the restricted cash.

The fair value of the short-term bank borrowing approximated the carrying amount.
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27 DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue mainly represents service fees prepaid by customers for certain Internet value-added services

in the forms of prepaid cards and tokens of which the related services have not been rendered as at 31

December 2007.

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the tax

rates which are expected to apply at the time of reversal of the temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax

assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. There

were no offsetting of deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2007 and 2006.

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred income tax assets:

- to be recovered after more than 12 months 226,853 94,700

- to be recovered within 12 months 60,799 35,822

287,652 130,522

Deferred income tax liabilities:

- to be recovered after more than 12 months (43,721) (9,875)

- to be recovered within 12 months (16,223) (6,946)

(59,944) (16,821)
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (Cont’d)

The gross movements of the deferred income tax account were as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 113,701 95,552

Business combinations (Note 42) (48,754) (13,731)

Credit to income statement relating to origination and

reversal of temporary differences (Note 36) 74,369 31,880

Effect of change in tax rates (Note 36(a)(iii)) 88,392 –

At end of year 227,708 113,701

The movements of deferred tax assets were as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax

assets

arising from

intra-group

software and Deferred tax

technology assets for tax

sales losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note)

At 1 January 2006 96,362 – 96,362

Credit to income statement 34,160 – 34,160

At 31 December 2006 130,522 – 130,522

Business combinations (Note 42) – 2,137 2,137

Credit to income statement relating

to origination of temporary differences 109,718 – 109,718

Charge to income statement (41,462) (2,137) (43,599)

Effect of change on tax rates 88,874 – 88,874

At 31 December 2007 287,652 – 287,652

Note: The deferred tax assets recognised are mainly related to the temporary differences arising from certain intra-group

software and technology sales transactions (Note 4.2(a)). The credits to the income statement represent tax impacts of

originating temporary differences arising from these software and technology sales, while the charge to income statement

represents tax impacts of the reversal of the temporary differences as a result of the amortisation of the costs of these

software and technologies.
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (Cont’d)

The movements of deferred tax liabilities were as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible

assets

acquired in

business

Transfer of combination at

surplus cash fair values Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note)

At 1 January 2006 (810) – (810)

Business combinations – (13,731) (13,731)

(Charge)/credit to income statement (3,878) 1,598 (2,280)

At 31 December 2006 (4,688) (12,133) (16,821)

Business combinations (Note 42) – (50,891) (50,891)

(Charge)/credit to income statement

relating to origination of temporary differences (2,943) 11,193 8,250

Effect of change in tax rates – (482) (482)

At 31 December 2007 (7,631) (52,313) (59,944)

Note: The Group recognised deferred tax liabilities in respect of the relevant taxes that may arise from the transfer of surplus

cash mainly generated from profits of Tencent Computer and Shiji Kaixuan, in which the Company has indirect beneficial

interests through contractual agreements.

29 COST OF REVENUES

Cost of revenues mainly comprises the Mobile and Telecom Charges (mentioned in Note 2.21(a)), bandwidth and

server custody fees, staff costs, sharing and content subscription costs incurred in deriving the revenues.
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30 OTHER GAINS, NET

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income 85,744 75,782

Government subsidies 33,156 15,231

Gains from revision of the Earn-out Considerations of

Joymax Acquisition (Note 4.2(b)) 28,274 –

Gains from derivative financial instruments 17,699 –

Impairment charge for intangible assets (Note 10) (60,525) –

Impairment charge for available-for-sale

financial assets (Note 14) (23,842) –

Donation to a charity fund established by the Group (12,000) (20,000)

Loss on disposals of fixed assets (5,344) (1,062)

(Losses)/gains on financial assets held for trading (1,914) 12,202

Others 7,964 1,042

69,212 83,195
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31 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Employee benefits expenses (Note) (Note 32) 727,468 584,789

Mobile and telecommunications charges and bandwidth

and server custody fees 650,318 462,634

Promotion and advertising expenses 161,711 155,696

Depreciation of fixed assets (Note) (Note 6) 146,551 106,416

Depreciation of investment property (Note 8) 775 –

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 10) 45,286 27,946

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights (Note 9) 319 –

Travelling and entertainment expenses 78,846 66,990

Operating lease rentals in respect of office buildings 76,386 38,775

VAT paid upon transfer of software within the Group 4,452 8,100

Auditors’ remuneration 4,519 4,050

Other expenses 358,478 264,935

Total cost of revenues, selling and marketing expenses

and general and administrative expenses 2,255,109 1,720,331

Note: Research and development expenses for the year ended 31 December 2007 were RMB376,120,000 (2006:

RMB297,320,000) which included employee benefit expenses of RMB304,545,000 and depreciation of fixed assets of

RMB64,778,000 (2006: RMB247,986,000 and RMB40,216,000) respectively.

The Group did not capitalise any research and development expenses for the year ended 31 December 2007

(2006: Nil).
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32 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 539,941 454,312

Welfare, medical and other expenses 38,196 28,120

Share-based compensation expenses 101,433 77,736

Contributions to pension plans (Note) 38,583 18,341

Training expenses 9,315 6,280

727,468 584,789

Note: All local employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC participate in employee social security plans enacted in the PRC,

which cover pension, medical and other welfare benefits. The plans are organised and administered by the governmental

authorities. Except for the contribution to these social security plans, the Group has no other material commitments

owing to the employees. According to the relevant regulations, the portion of premium and welfare benefit contributions

that should be borne by the companies within the Group as required by the above social security plans are principally

determined based on percentages of the basic salaries of employees, subject to a certain ceiling, and are paid to the

respective labour and social welfare authorities. Contributions to the plans are expensed as incurred. The applicable

percentages used to provide for insurance premium and welfare benefit funds are listed below.

Percentage

Pension insurance 11 – 23%

Medical insurance 6 – 12%

Unemployment insurance 0.4 – 2.5%

Housing fund 0 – 10%
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33 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid/payable to directors of the Company for the year ended 31

December 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees - independent non-executive directors 828 603

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind 21,827 13,341

Contributions to pension plans 52 34

Share-based compensation expenses

charged to income statement 16,206 –

38,913 13,978

Number of directors

— with emoluments 6 5

— without emoluments 2 2

Number of directors 8 7

During the year ended 31 December 2007, 6,000,000 options were granted to an executive director of the

Company and a total of 300,000 options were granted to the independent directors of the Company (2006: Nil)

(Note 23(a)(1)).
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33 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 December 2007 is set out below.

Salaries,

bonuses,

allowances Contributions Share-based

and benefits to pension compensation

Name of director Fees in kind plans expenses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Ma Huateng – 9,284 18 – 9,302

Zhang Zhidong – 7,620 18 – 7,638

Lau Chi Ping Martin – 4,923 16 15,369 20,308

Iain Ferguson Bruce 276 – – 279 555

Ian Charles Stone 276 – – 279 555

Li Dong Sheng 276 – – 279 555

Antonie Andries Roux – – – – –

Charles St Leger Searle – – – – –

828 21,827 52 16,206 38,913

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 December 2006 is set out below.

Salaries,

bonuses,

allowances Contributions

and benefits to pension

Name of director Fees in kind plans Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Ma Huateng – 7,028 17 7,045

Zhang Zhidong – 6,313 17 6,330

Iain Ferguson Bruce 201 – – 201

Ian Charles Stone 201 – – 201

Li Dong Sheng 201 – – 201

Antonie Andries Roux – – – –

Charles St Leger Searle – – – –

603 13,341 34 13,978
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33 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

No director received any emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or leave the Group or

compensation for loss of office. No director waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during the year

(2006: Nil).

34 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group during the year included three (2006: two)

directors whose details have been reflected in the analysis presented above (Note 33). The emoluments payable

to the remaining two (2006: three) individuals during the year are as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind 7,011 12,930

Share-based compensation expenses

charged to income statement 10,330 12,858

Contributions to pension plans 57 49

17,398 25,837

The emoluments of the above two individuals (2006: three) fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2007 2006

Emolument bands

HKD5,000,001 – HKD5,500,000

(equivalent to RMB4,876,001- RMB5,363,600) – 1

HKD8,000,001 – HKD8,500,000

(equivalent to RMB7,801,601- RMB8,289,200) 1 1

HKD9,500,001 – HKD10,000,000

(equivalent to RMB9,264,401- RMB9,752,000) 1 –

HKD12,000,001 – HKD12,500,000

(equivalent to RMB11,702,401 – RMB12,190,000) – 1
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35 FINANCE COSTS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest expenses 1,589 5,385

Exchange losses 98,603 41,149

100,192 46,534

Interest expenses mainly arose from the discounting of Earn-out Considerations of the Joymax Acquisition. The

exchange losses mainly arose from the translations of non-RMB denominated monetary assets.

36 TAX EXPENSE

(a) Income tax

(i) Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands Profits Tax

The Group has not been subject to any taxation in these jurisdictions for the year ended 31 December

2007 (2006: Nil).

(ii) Hong Kong Profits Tax

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group has no assessable profit arising in Hong

Kong for the year ended 31 December 2007 (2006: Nil).

(iii) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

EIT is provided on the assessable income of entities within the Group incorporated in the PRC,

calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations of the PRC after considering the available tax

benefits from refunds and allowances.

For 2007, subsidiaries established in the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone and the Beijing High

Technology Zone of the PRC were subject to EIT at a rate of 15% (2006: 15%), and Wang Dian, which

was established in Nanjing of the PRC, was subject to EIT at a rate of 33% (2006: 33%).
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36 TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

(a) Income tax (Cont’d)

(iii) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (Cont’d)

Tencent Technology was approved by the relevant tax authorities as an enterprise with foreign

investment with productive sales income fulfilling the provisions stipulated in the tax circular,

Shendishuiwaihan 2003 No. 413. Accordingly, Tencent Technology was exempt from EIT for two years

commencing from the first year of profitable operation after offsetting prior years’ tax losses, followed

by a 50% reduction for the next three years if its annual productive sales income exceeded 50% of its

reported total sales income. 2003 was the first profit-making year of Tencent Technology. During

2007, it adopted a rate of 15% (2006: 15%) in accruing its EIT liability and will revise it to 7.5% in the

subsequent period when approval is obtained from the local tax bureau. The treatment is consistent

with that of 2006. During 2007, Tencent Technology has adjusted its income tax expenses for the year

2006 as a result of revision of the tax rate from 15% to 7.5% as Tencent Technology has received

relevant approval from the local tax bureau.

Tencent Beijing was incorporated in the Beijing High Technology Zone in the PRC as a hi-tech

enterprise. According to the special tax incentives granted by the local tax authority in Beijing,

Tencent Beijing is exempt from EIT for three years starting from the first year of its commercial

operation, followed by a 50% reduction for the next three years. 2005 was the first year of operation

for Tencent Beijing and accordingly, no provision for EIT was required for 2007 (2006: Nil).

As disclosed in Note 4.2(a), the new enterprise income tax for domestic and foreign enterprises is

unified at 25%, effective from 1 January 2008 with a five-year transitional period. The transitional

income tax rates for the Group’s subsidiaries established in the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone or

the Beijing High Technology Zone before 16 March 2007 would be 18%, 20%, 22%, 24% and 25% in

the year of 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 respectively. Other tax preferential treatments such as

reduction of 50% in income tax rate shall be based on the above transitional income tax rate in that

year.
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36 TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

(a) Income tax (Cont’d)

The income tax (benefits)/ charges of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 are

analysed as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC current tax 129,256 84,851

Deferred income taxes relating to

the origination and reversal of temporary

differences (Note 28) (74,369) (31,880)

Deferred income taxes resulting from change

in the tax rates (Note 28) (88,392) –

(33,505) 52,971

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

the tax rate of 15%, the tax rate enacted in Shenzhen and the Beijing High Technology Zone of the PRC,

where the principal activities of the Group are conducted. The difference is analysed as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before income tax 1,534,503 1,116,771

Add: Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity 331 –

1,534,834 1,116,771

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 15% (2006: 15%) 230,225 167,516

Effect of different tax rates available to

different companies of the Group 2,971 22,878

Effect of change in tax rate (88,392) –

Effects of tax holiday on assessable profits

of subsidiaries (192,619) (152,591)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 15,701 14,877

Unrecognized tax assets/(utilisation of

previously unrecognised tax assets) (1,391) 291

Tax (benefit)/charge (33,505) 52,971
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36 TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

(b) VAT, business tax and related taxes

The operations of the Group are also subject to the following taxes in the PRC:

Category Tax rate Basis of levy

VAT 17% Sales value of goods sold, offsetting

by VAT on purchases

Business tax (“BT”) 3-5% Services fee income

City construction tax 1% Net VAT and BT payable amount

Educational surcharge 3% Net VAT and BT payable amount

37 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2007 2006

Profit attributable to equity holders of

the Company for the year (RMB’000) 1,566,020 1,063,800

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue (thousands) 1,779,906 1,764,337

Basic EPS (RMB per share) 0.880 0.603
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37 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cont’d)

 (b) Diluted

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding by the

assumption of the conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options granted by

the Company (collectively forming the denominator for computing the diluted EPS). A calculation is done to

determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average

market price of the Company’s shares during the year) based on the monetary value of the subscription

rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of shares so calculated is compared against the

number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options. The difference

is added to the denominator as an issue of ordinary shares for no consideration. No adjustment is made to

earnings (numerator).

2007 2006

Profit attributable to equity holders

of the Company for the year (RMB’000) 1,566,020 1,063,800

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue (thousands shares) 1,779,906 1,764,337

Adjustments for share options

(thousands shares) 57,058 54,198

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the calculation of diluted

earnings per share (thousands shares) 1,836,964 1,818,535

Diluted EPS (RMB per share) 0.853 0.585

38 DIVIDENDS

The dividends paid in 2007 and 2006 were RMB210,211,000 and RMB145,402,000, respectively (Note 39(b)).

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 of HKD0.16 (2006: HKD0.12) per share, was

proposed pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 19 March 2008 and subject to the approval of the

shareholders in the annual general meeting to be held on 14 May 2008. These financial statements do not reflect

this dividend payable.



Tencent Holdings Limited    Annual Report 2007136

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

39 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

(a) Reconciliation of net profit to net cash inflow from operating activities:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year 1,568,008 1,063,800

Adjustments for:

Income tax (benefits)/expenses (33,505) 52,971

Depreciation of fixed assets and investment property 147,326 106,416

Amortisation of intangible assets 45,286 27,946

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights 319 –

Loss on disposals of fixed assets 5,344 1,062

Losses/(gains) on financial assets held for trading 1,914 (12,202)

Gains on derivative financial instruments (17,699) –

Interest income (85,744) (75,782)

Interest expenses 1,589 5,385

Share-based compensation expenses 101,433 77,736

Impairment charge for available-for-sale financial assets 23,842 –

Impairment charge for intangible assets 60,525 –

Gains from revision of the Earn-out

Considerations of Joymax Acquisition (28,274) –

Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity 331 –

Exchange losses 98,603 41,149

Changes in working capital:

Inventories 765 181

Accounts receivable (115,145) (158,048)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (15,103) (60,463)

Financial assets held for trading (72,502) 200,182

Restricted cash (300,000) –

Accounts payable 41,184 10,732

Other payables and accruals and other tax liabilities 203,341 207,552

Deferred revenue 9,562 85,204

Cash generated from operations 1,641,400 1,573,821
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39 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

(a) Reconciliation of net profit to net cash inflow from operating activities: (Cont’d)

In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposals of fixed assets comprise:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net book amount 16,578 1,062

Loss on disposals of fixed assets (5,344) (1,062)

Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 11,234 –

(b) Analysis of changes in financing during the years are as follows:

Share capital

Dividends including

payable premium Borrowing Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2006 – 1,666,236 – 1,666,236

Proceeds from issue of shares

and share options – 34,054 – 34,054

Payments for repurchase of

issued shares – (241,078) – (241,078)

Proposed dividends 145,402 – – 145,402

Payment of dividends (145,402) – – (145,402)

At 31 December 2006 /

1 January 2007 – 1,459,212 – 1,459,212

Proceeds from issue of

shares and share options – 104,090 – 104,090

Payments for repurchase of

issued shares – (107,254) – (107,254)

Proposed dividends 210,211 – – 210,211

Payment of dividends (210,211) – – (210,211)

Proceeds from short-term

bank borrowing – – 292,184 292,184

At 31 December 2007 – 1,456,048 292,184 1,748,232
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39 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Major non-cash transactions

There were no material non-cash transactions for the year ended 31 December 2007.

40 CONTINGENCIES

The Group has no material contingent liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2007.

41 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital commitments as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 are analysed as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted:

Construction of buildings 132,813 16,523

Purchase of other fixed assets 85,565 10,546

218,378 27,069

Authorised but not contracted:

Construction of buildings 447,664 773,918

666,042 800,987

(b) Operating lease commitments

The future aggregate minimum lease payments committed or authorised under operating leases in respect

of buildings are as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Not later than one year 74,073 25,710

Later than one year and not later than five years 76,789 34,513

Later than five years 7,490 8,515

158,352 68,738
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41 COMMITMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Other commitments

The future aggregate authorised minimum lease payments under bandwidth and server custody leases are

as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted:

Not later than one year 36,207 42,961

Later than one year and not later than five years 2,450 8,521

38,657 51,482

42 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a) Acquisition of 100% equity interest in two providers of mobile and telecommunications value-

added services, and 63.9% equity interest in a game developer

In January, September and September 2007, the Group acquired/subscribed for 100%, 100% and 63.9%

equity interest in three companies in the PRC, namely Beijing BIZCOM, Beijing Starsinhand and Beijing

Yonghang, at an aggregated consideration of approximately RMB67,770,000, respectively. Beijing BIZCOM

and Beijing Starsinhand are providers of mobile and telecommunictaions value-added services, and Beijing

Yonghang is a game developer.

The Group has assigned its designees to legally own the equity interest in Beijing BIZCOM and Beijing

Starsinhand and, through certain contractual arrangements enacted among these two acquired companies,

the Group and the Group’s designees, the Group controls and is entitled to substantially all the operating

profits and residual benefit generated by these two acquired companies.

The business conducted by the above three acquired companies contributed to the Group a revenue of

RMB30,506,000 and a net profit of RMB10, 653,000 for the period from the dates of their acquisition to 31

December 2007. If the above acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2007, the Group’s revenue would

have been increased by RMB7,962,000 and net profit decreased by RMB1,113,000. These amounts have

been arrived based on the Group’s accounting policies by adjusting the results of the acquired subsidiaries

to reflect the additional amortisation that would have been charged assuming that the fair value

adjustments were made to the identifiable intangible assets from 1 January 2007, together with the

consequential tax effects.
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42 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of 100% equity interest in two providers of mobile and telecommunications value-

added services, and 63.9% equity interest in a game developer (Cont’d)

Total considerations and the allocation of such considerations to the fair value of the net assets acquired

and goodwill are as follows:

RMB’000

Purchase considerations:

- Cash paid 59,109

- Included in other payables 8,661

Total purchase considerations 67,770

Fair value of net assets acquired (61,932)

Goodwill 5,838

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the goodwill is attributable to the anticipated profitability of

the acquired companies’ operation and the anticipated future operating synergies.

The acquired net assets comprised the following assets and liabilities:

Carrying

Fair value amount

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 6,347 6,347

Accounts receivable 819 819

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 10,117 10,117

Fixed assets 174 174

Intangible assets (Note) 55,888 10,000

Deferred income tax asset (Note 28) 2,137 2,137

Other payables and accruals (2,238) (2,238)

Other tax liabilities (83) (83)

Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 28) (4,221) –

Minority interest (7,008) –

Net assets 61,932 27,273
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42 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of 100% equity interest in two providers of mobile and telecommunications value-

added services, and 63.9% equity interest in a game developer (Cont’d)

Note: The identified intangible assets include licenses for wireless value-added service operations and business

relationship. Together with the goodwill of RMB5,838,000, being the excess of the considerations over the fair

value of net assets acquired, the total value of intangible assets from these acquisitions was RMB61,726,000 (Note

10).

RMB’000

Purchase considerations settled in cash 59,109

Cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiary acquired (6,347)

Net cash outflow on acquisitions 52,762

(b) Acquisition of additional 40.1% equity interest in Shenzhen Domain

Shenzhen Domain is a high-tech software company with limited liability, which was established in Shenzhen

in April 1997 and provides online games and other related services.

Before further acquisition in 2007, the Group held 19.9% equity interest in Shenzhen Domain. On 20

November 2007, the Group acquired an additional 40.1% equity interest in Shenzhen Domain at a cash

consideration of RMB106,265,000. As at 31 December 2007, the Group owned 60% equity interest in

Shenzhen Domain.

The business conducted by Shenzhen Domain contributed to the Group a revenue of RMB7,294,000 and a

net profit of RMB2,461,000 for the period from the dates of acquisition to 31 December 2007. If the above

acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2007, the Group’s revenue would have been increased by

RMB37,379,000 and net profit increased by RMB16,005,000. These amounts have been arrived based on

the Group’s accounting policies by adjusting the results of the acquired subsidiaries to reflect the additional

amortisation that would have been charged assuming that the fair value adjustments were made to the

identifiable intangible assets from 1 January 2007, together with the consequential tax effects.
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42 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Acquisition of additional 40.1% equity interest in Shenzhen Domain (Cont’d)

No goodwill was identified when the Group initially acquired the 19.9% equity interest. The total

consideration and the allocation of such consideration to the fair value of the net assets acquired and

goodwill in relation to the acquisition of the additional 40.1% equity interest are as follows:

RMB’000

Purchase considerations for

the additional 40.1% equity

interest in Shenzhen Domain 106,265

Provisional fair value of net assets

acquired (40.1% equity interest

in Shenzhen Domain) (82,841)

Goodwill 23,424

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the goodwill is attributable to the anticipated profitability of

the acquired companies’ operation and the anticipated future operating synergies.
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42 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Acquisition of additional 40.1% equity interest in Shenzhen Domain (Cont’d)

Since the acquisition date is close to 31 December 2007, the Group has estimated the fair value of the net

identified assets acquired and accounted for this business combination using the provisional values. A

valuation will be performed by an independent valuer in due course.

The acquired net assets comprised the following assets and liabilities:

Provisional Carrying

fair value amount

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 19,053 19,053

Accounts receivable 20,227 20,227

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 4,007 4,007

Fixed assets 13,675 13,675

Intangible assets (Note (i)) 214,040 206

Accounts payable (59) (59)

Other payables and accruals (11,196) (11,196)

Income tax liabilities (101) (101)

Other tax liabilities (53) (53)

Deferred revenue (6,338) (6,337)

Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 28) (46,670) –

206,585 39,422

Attributable to:

- 40.1% equity interest acquired 82,841

- 19.9 equity interest original held (Note (ii)) 41,110

- 40% minority interest 82,634

206,585

Note:

(i) The identified intangible assets include software and technology for completed games and games under

development, business relationship and distribution network. Together with the goodwill of RMB23,424,000 (Note

10), being the excess of the considerations over the provisional fair value of net assets acquired, the total value of

intangible assets from these acquisitions was RMB237,464,000.

(ii) The difference between the fair value of the 19.9% equity interest originally held by the Group as at the date of

acquisition of the additional 40.1% equity interest and the original purchase consideration for the 19.9% equity interest

of RMB29,850,000 was RMB11,260,000, of which RMB4,017,000 was attributable to the net profit generated by

Shenzhen Domain during the period from the transaction date of 19.9% equity interest to the acquisition date  of the

additional 40.1% equity interest (the “19.9% Interest Holding Period”) and the remaining balance of RMB7,243,000

was attributable to the fair value change in assets during the 19.9% Interest Holding Period.
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42 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Acquisition of additional 40.1% equity interest in Shenzhen Domain (Cont’d)

RMB’000

Purchase considerations settled in cash 106,265

Cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiary acquired (19,053)

Net cash outflow on acquisitions 87,212

43 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed in Note 33 (Directors’ emoluments) and Note 23 (Share option and share award schemes) to

the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other material transactions with related parties for the

year ended 31 December 2007.

44 COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the current year and such

reclassifications have no impact on the Group’s net profit for the year 2006.


